BABEŞ-BOLYAI UNIVERSITY CLUJ-NAPOCA FACULTY OF MATHEMATICS AND COMPUTER SCIENCE

Ph. D. THESIS - SUMMARY -

Contributions to fixed point theory for cyclic operators and applications

Supervisor Prof. dr. Adrian Petruşel

> Author Adrian Magdaş

2020

President: Prof. dr. Octavian Agratini (Babeş-Bolyai University)

Referees:

Prof. dr. Aurelian Cernea (Bucharest University)Prof. dr. Radu Miculescu (Transilvania University Braşov)Assoc. Prof. dr. Marcel-Adrian Şerban (Babeş-Bolyai University)

Scientific Advisor: Prof. dr. Adrian Olimpiu Petruşel (Babeş-Bolyai University)

Contents

Introduction			2
1	Preliminaries		6
	1.1	Basic notations and notions	6
	1.2	Comparison functions	7
	1.3	Basic metric fixed point theorems	8
	1.4	Basic best proximity point theorems	11
	1.5	Basic coupled fixed point theorems	13
2	Single-valued generalized contractions on cyclic		
	representations		16
	2.1	A study of the fixed point problem for Ćirić type	
		single-valued operators satisfying a cyclic condition	17
	2.2	Perov type theorems for cyclic contractions	21
	2.3	Coupled fixed point theorems for single-valued cyclic	
		contraction type operators	25
3	Multi-valued generalized contractions on cyclic		
	representations		30
	3.1	A study of the fixed point problem for Ćirić type	
		multi-valued operators satisfying a cyclic condition	31
	3.2	Best proximity point theorems for multi-valued operators	33
	3.3	Coupled fixed point and coupled best proximity point	
		theorems for multi-valued cyclic contraction type operators	36
Bi	Bibliography		

Introduction

The theory of fixed points has been revealed as a powerful tool for solving various problems arising in different fields of pure and applied mathematics. The cornerstone of the metric fixed point theory, S. Banach contraction principle [1], has been generalized in several directions. Most of these generalizations, see for example [54], [70], weaken the contractive nature of the operator but, in compensation, have conditions that enrich the metric space structure and / or have additional requirements on the operator.

In 1969, S.B. Nadler extended Banach contraction principle from single-valued to multivalued mapping (see [40]). Nadler's Theorem has been generalized by many mathematicians, see for example the fixed point results for multi-valued mappings of generalized contractive type of H. Covitz, S.B. Nadler [13], L. Ćirić [9], N. Mizoguchi and W. Takahashi [38], S.B. Nadler [41], A. Petruşel [56], C. Vetro and F. Vetro [80].

Banach contraction principle was extended for single-valued contraction on spaces endowed with vector-valued metrics by A.I. Perov and A.V. Kibenko [45]. The case of multi-valued contractions on spaces endowed with vector-valued metrics is treated in A. Petruşel [53], I.R. Petre, A. Petruşel [46].

One of the consistent generalization of the Contraction Principle was given in 2003 by W.A. Kirk, P.S. Srinivasan and P. Veeramani, using the concept of cyclic operator (see [29]). This concept attracted the interest of many authors because of its potential in the study of differential and integral equations (see for example [2], [23], [61], [75]).

The concept of coupled fixed point was introduced by V.I. Opoitsev [43], but the issue gets a fast development due to the works of D. Guo and V. Lakshmikantham [20] and T.G. Bhaskar, V. Lakshmikantham [5]. A new research direction for the theory of coupled fixed points has been developed by many authors (see V. Lakshmikantham, L. Ćirić [31], A. Petruşel, G. Petruşel and B. Samet [57], B. Samet and C. Vetro [74]) using contractive type conditions.

A. Eldred and P. Veeramani opened in 2006 another research direction, searching conditions which ensure the existence of a best proximity point of cyclic operators in the framework of metric spaces (see [16]).

In the present work we develop a study regarding the existence, uniqueness, qualitative properties of fixed point, coupled fixed point, best proximity point for single-valued and multivalued operators satisfying cyclic conditions. We support this study by presenting also some applications.

The study material is organized into three chapters connected to each other through various threads, each chapter containing several sections.

Chapter 1: Preliminaries

This chapter is a brief overview of the basic notions and results which are further considered in the next chapters of this work, allowing us to present the results of this thesis. We start by presenting standard notations and terminology of nonlinear analysis. The concept and related properties of comparison function which will be used throughout thesis are presented as well. Then basic metric fixed point theorems, starting with Banach contraction principle and some classical contractive operators are presented. The basic notion used in the development of this thesis, namely cyclic operator, is presented accompanied by some fixed point theorems given by Kirk, Srinivasan and Veeramani in [29]. Basic best proximity point theorems and coupled fixed point theorems useful for the development of the next chapters are presented in the last two sections.

Chapter 2: Single-valued generalized contractions on cyclic representations

In this chapter, we give some fixed point results for single-valued operators defined on cyclic representations in metric spaces and in spaces endowed with vector-valued metrics. This chapter has three sections.

In the **first section** we investigate the properties of some Ćirić type generalized contractions defined on cyclic representations in a metric space.

Ćirić type generalized contraction condition is one of the most general metrical condition for which the set of fixed points is a singleton and the fixed points can be approximated by means of Picard iteration. Our results generalize fundamental metrical fixed point theorems in literature given for Banach, Kannan, Bianchini, Reich, Chatterjea, Zamfirescu, Ćirić type operators (see [52], [66]), in the case of a cyclic condition (see [47]). Also, the main result of this section (Theorem 2.1.5) is a generalization of the following results: Theorem 2.1.1 given by Petric and Zlatanov in [50] and Theorem 2.1.3 given by Păcurar and Rus in [44].

Throughout this section we develop a theory of the stated fixed point theorem, theory consisting of:

• existence and uniqueness results for fixed points of single-valued cyclic φ -contraction of Ćirić type;

- a convergence result for Picard iteration to the fixed point;
- continuous data dependence of the fixed point;
- well posedness of the fixed point problem;
- sequences of operators and fixed points.

Also, we state a Maia type theorem related to Ćirić type generalized contractions defined on cyclic representations.

The results presented in this section are included in the paper Magdas [33].

In the second section we present a Perov type theorem for cyclic operators. Our approach is based on Perov's fixed point theorem (see Theorem 2.2.3), in spaces endowed with vector-valued metrics. Our main result in this section is Theorem 2.2.5, an extension of Theorem 1.3.1 and Theorem 1.3.12 in a space endowed with a vector-valued metric. We state two results regarding the data dependence and the well posedness of the fixed point problem. As applications, we study existence, uniqueness and data dependence of the solution of a system of Fredholm type of integral equations; the solution of the system can be obtained by the successive appoximation. Also we study existence and uniqueness of the solution of a system of Volterra type of integral equations.

The results presented in this section are contained in the following paper: Magdaş [36].

In the **third section** we study the coupled fixed point problem for single-valued cyclic contraction type operators. The approach is based on fixed point results for appropriate operators generated by the initial problems.

Our main result in this section is Theorem 2.3.2 which is a generalization of several theorems such as Theorem 1.5.9, Theorem 1.5.11, Theorem 1.5.13, Theorem 1.5.15. We also provide an

iterative method for approximating the strong coupled fixed point and we give some qualitative properties of the coupled fixed point set, such as data dependence, generalized Ulam-Hyers stability and well posedness. As applications, we study the existence, the uniqueness and generalized Ulam-Hyers stability of the solutions of systems of integral equations.

The results presented in this section are contained in the paper Magdas [35].

Chapter 3: Multi-valued generalized contractions on cyclic representations

In this chapter, we give fixed point and best proximity point results for multi-valued operators defined on cyclic representations of a metric space (X, d). This chapter has three sections.

In the **first section** we investigate the properties of multi-valued φ -contractions of Ćirić type defined on cyclic representations in a metric space (X, d). We will study under which conditions such an operator T possesses fixed points, i.e., $x \in X$ satisfying the relation $x \in T(x)$. We construct a sequence of successive approximations of T that guarantees convergence from any starting point (x, y) from the graph of the operator to a point $x^* \in F_T$, the set of all fixed points of T. We also study data dependence and generalized Ulam-Hyers stability of the fixed point inclusion $x \in T(x)$. Our results extend metrical fixed point theorems in literature such as Nadler's Theorem (see [40]) or fixed point results of multi-valued Ćirić type operators (see [9]), in the case of a cyclic condition. Also, the main result Theorem 3.1.4 is a generalization of the Theorem 2.1 given by Neammanee and Kaewkhao in [42].

The results presented in this section are included in the paper Magdas [34].

In the **second section** we study existence of the solutions and generalized Ulam-Hyers stability of the best proximity problem for cyclic multi-valued operators: If (X,d) is a metric space, $A, B \in P(X), T : A \cup B \to P(X)$ is a multi-valued operator satisfying the cyclic condition $T(A) \subseteq B, T(B) \subseteq A$, then we are interested to find $x^* \in A \cup B$ such that $D(x^*, T(x^*)) =$ D(A, B), where D is the gap functional. x^* is said to be a best proximity point of T.

Several authors studied the existence of best proximity points for cyclic operators on metric spaces, see e.g. [17], [19], [24], [25], [26], [28], [49], [51]. The first main result of this section extends Theorem 1.4.5 (Suzuki, Kikkawa, C. Vetro, [77]) and Theorem 1.4.6 (Neammanee, Kaewkhao [42]) to the case of multi-valued Ćirić type cyclic operator which takes proximinal values, in the framework of metric spaces with the property UC.

The results presented in this section are contained in the paper Magdaş [37].

In the **third section** we study the coupled fixed point problem and the coupled best proximity point problem for cyclic multi-valued operators. The approach is based on fixed point results for appropriate operators generated by the initial problems. The first result Theorem 3.3.5 states a coupled fixed point result for cyclic coupled φ -contraction of Ćirić type multi-valued operator. The generalized Ulam-Hyers stability of the coupled fixed point problem is studied as well. Theorem 3.3.10 studies the existence of the coupled best proximity point of a cyclic coupled Ćirić type multi-valued operator which takes proximinal values, in the framework of metric spaces with the property UC.

The results presented in this section are contained in the paper Magdaş [35].

The thesis is concluded by the references used in the text and a list of published papers.

Keywords: metric space, cyclic operator, fixed point, best proximity point, coupled fixed point, applications to systems of integral equations.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my Ph.D. Supervisor, Professor Adrian Petruşel, for his guidance, support, patience and providing me with a good atmosphere for accomplishing this research project.

Chapter 1

Preliminaries

The aim of this chapter is to present the basic concepts and results which are further considered in the next chapters.

1.1 Basic notations and notions

We present some standard notations and terminology of nonlinear analysis which will be used throughout this work.

Let (X, d) be a metric space, Y be a nonempty subset of X. We denote:

$$P(X) := \{A \subseteq X \mid A \text{ is nonempty}\}; P_b(X) := \{A \in P(X) \mid A \text{ is bounded}\};$$
$$P_{cl}(X) := \{A \in P(X) \mid A \text{ is closed}\}; P_{cp}(X) := \{A \in P(X) \mid A \text{ is compact}\};$$
$$P_{cv}(X) := \{A \in P(X) \mid A \text{ is convex}\}; P_{cl,cv}(X) := P_{cl}(X) \cap P_{cv}(X).$$

Let us define the following (generalized) functionals used in this paper:

 \bullet the diameter functional

$$\delta: P(X) \times P(X) \to \mathbb{R}_+ \cup \{+\infty\}, \ \delta(A,B) = \sup\{d(a,b) \mid a \in A, \ b \in B\};$$

• the gap functional

$$D: P(X) \times P(X) \to \mathbb{R}_+, \ D(A, B) = \inf\{d(a, b) \mid a \in A, \ b \in B\};\$$

• the generalized excess functional

$$\rho: P(X) \times P(X) \to \mathbb{R}_+ \cup \{+\infty\}, \ \rho(A, B) = \sup\{D(a, B) \mid a \in A\};\$$

• the generalized Pompeiu-Hausdorff functional

$$H: P(X) \times P(X) \to \mathbb{R}_+ \cup \{+\infty\}, \ H(A,B) = \max\{\rho(A,B), \rho(B,A)\}.$$

We recall now the following notions and results.

Lemma 1.1.1. Let (X,d) be a metric space, $A, B \in P(X)$. Then for any $\varepsilon > 0$ and for any $a \in A$ there exists $b \in B$ such that

$$d(a,b) \le H(A,B) + \varepsilon.$$

Definition 1.1.2. (Fletcher, Moors [18]) Let (X, d) be a metric space and let $Y \in P(X)$. We denote

$$P_Y(x) = \{y \in Y \mid d(x, y) = D(x, Y)\}$$
 for $x \in X$.

The set Y is called proximinal if for any $x \in X$, $P_Y(x)$ is nonempty. If for any $x \in X$, $P_Y(x)$ is singleton, then Y is called Chebyshev set.

Obviously, any Chebysev set is proximinal. We denote $P_{prox}(X) = \{Y \in P(X) \mid Y \text{ is proximinal}\}.$

Remark 1.1.3. Let (X, d) be a metric space. Then

 $P_{cp}(X) \subset P_{prox}(X) \subset P_{cl}(X).$

Remark 1.1.4. (Deutsch [15]) A Banach space X is reflexive if and only if every nonempty closed convex subset of X is proximinal.

Remark 1.1.5. (Cobzaş [14]) If Y is a nonempty complete convex subset of a uniformly convex normed space X, then Y is a Chebyshev set in X.

For details concerning the above notions see [40], [63], [70], [76].

1.2 Comparison functions

There are several conditions regarding the notion of comparison function that have been considered in literature. Throughout this paper we shall refer only to the following notion.

Definition 1.2.1. (Rus, Şerban [72]) A function $\varphi : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ is called a comparison function if it satisfies:

 $(i)_{\varphi} \varphi$ is increasing;

 $(ii)_{\varphi} \ (\varphi^n(t))_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges to 0 as $n \to \infty$, for all $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$.

If the condition $(ii)_{\varphi}$ is replaced by the condition:

 $(iii)_{\varphi} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \varphi^k(t) < \infty$, for any t > 0,

then φ is called a strong comparison function.

Lemma 1.2.2. (Rus, A. Petruşel, G. Petruşel [70]) If $\varphi : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ is a comparison function, then the following hold:

(i) $\varphi(t) < t$, for any t > 0; (ii) $\varphi(0) = 0$; (iii) φ is continuous at 0.

Lemma 1.2.3. (Păcurar, Rus [44], Rus, Şerban [72]) If $\varphi : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ is a strong comparison function, then the following hold:

(i) φ is a comparison function;

(ii) the function $s : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$, defined by

$$s(t) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \varphi^k(t), \ t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$
(1.2.1)

is increasing and continuous at 0;

(iii) there exist $k_0 \in \mathbb{N}$, $a \in (0,1)$ and a convergent series of nonnegative terms $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} v_k$ such

that

$$\varphi^{k+1}(t) \leq a\varphi^k(t) + v_k$$
, for $k \geq k_0$ and any $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$

Remark 1.2.4. Some authors use the notion of (c)-comparison function defined by the statements (i) and (iii) from Lemma 1.2.3. Actually, the concept of (c)-comparison function coincides with that of strong comparison function.

Example 1.2.5. The following functions $\varphi : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ are comparison functions:

 $(1) \ \varphi(t) = at, \text{ where } a \in [0, 1).$ $(2) \ \varphi(t) = \begin{cases} at, \text{ for } t \in [0, 1] \\ t + a - 1, \text{ for } t > 1 \end{cases}, \text{ where } a \in [0, 1).$ $(3) \ \varphi(t) = at + \frac{1}{2}[t], \text{ where } a \in (0, \frac{1}{2}).$ $(4) \ \varphi(t) = \begin{cases} \frac{t}{a}, \text{ for } t \in [0, a] \\ a, \text{ for } t > a \end{cases}, \text{ where } a \in (1, \infty).$ $(5) \ \varphi(t) = \frac{t}{t + a}, \text{ where } a \in [1, \infty).$

The first four examples are strong comparison functions. The fifth example is a strong comparison function iff $a \in (1, \infty)$. For more considerations on comparison functions see [69], [70] and the references therein.

1.3 Basic metric fixed point theorems

If $f: Y \to X$ is a single-valued operator, then Graph $(f) := \{(x, f(x)) \mid x \in Y\}$ denotes the graph of f and $F_f := \{x \in Y \mid f(x) = x\}$ denotes the fixed point set of f.

If $T: Y \to P(X)$ is a multi-valued operator, then Graph $(T) := \{(x, y) \mid x \in Y, y \in T(x)\}$ denotes the graph of T and $F_T := \{x \in Y \mid x \in T(x)\}$ denotes the fixed point set of T.

A sequence $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ satisfying the following conditions:

- (i) $x_0 = x, x_1 = y;$
- (ii) $x_{n+1} \in T(x_n)$, for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$;

is called a sequence of successive approximations of T starting from $(x, y) \in \operatorname{Graph}(T)$.

Banach contraction principle is one of the most useful results in nonlinear analysis. In a metric space setting, the statement of the contraction principle was given in 1922.

Theorem 1.3.1. (Banach [1]) Let (X, d) be a complete metric space and let $f : X \to X$ be a contraction operator, that is there exists a constant $a \in [0, 1)$ such that for any $x, y \in X$,

$$d(f(x), f(y)) \le ad(x, y).$$

Then:

- (1) f has a unique fixed point $x^* \in X$;
- (2) the Picard iteration $(x_n)_{n\geq 0}$ defined by

$$x_n = f(x_{n-1}), \ n \ge 1$$
 (1.3.1)

converges to x^* for any starting point $x_0 \in X$;

(3) the following estimate holds:

$$d(x_{n+k-1}, x^*) \le \frac{a^k}{1-a} d(x_n, x_{n-1}), \forall n, k \in \mathbb{N}^*;$$

(4) the rate of convergence of Picard iteration is given by:

$$d(x_n, x^*) \le ad(x_{n-1}, x^*), \forall n \ge 1$$

In 1969, Nadler [40] extended the Banach contraction principle from single-valued to multivalued operator. The existence of fixed points for various multi-valued contractive operators has been studied by many authors under different conditions, see Ćirić [9], [10], Mizoguchi, Takahashi [38], Rhoades [67].

We recall now Nadler's fixed point theorem.

Theorem 1.3.2. (Nadler [40]) Let (X, d) be a complete metric space and let $T : X \to P_{b,cl}(X)$ be a multi-valued a-contraction, that is there exists a constant $a \in [0, 1)$ such that for any $x, y \in X$,

$$H(T(x), T(y)) \le a \cdot d(x, y).$$

Then T has a fixed point.

In the last decades, authors gave many generalization of the Banach contraction principle, a way of generalization being the weakening of the contraction condition.

We present some of such conditions existing in the literature. Let (X, d) be a complete metric space and let $f: X \to X$ be an operator.

(i) (Kannan, [22]) there exists a constant $a \in [0, \frac{1}{2})$ such that

$$d(f(x),f(y)) \leq a[d(x,f(x))+d(y,f(y))], \forall x,y \in X;$$

(ii) (Chatterjea, [7]) there exists a constant $a \in [0, \frac{1}{2})$ such that

$$d(f(x),f(y)) \leq a[d(x,f(y))+d(y,f(x))], \forall x,y \in X;$$

(iii) (Zamfirescu, [81]) there exist the real numbers $a \in [0, 1), b, c \in [0, \frac{1}{2})$ such that for any $x, y \in X$, at least one of the following holds:

- (z1) $d(f(x), f(y)) \le ad(x, y);$
- (z2) $d(f(x), f(y)) \le b[d(x, f(x)) + d(y, f(y))];$
- (z3) $d(f(x), f(y)) \le c[d(x, f(y)) + d(y, f(x))].$

(iv) (Bianchini, [6]) there exists a constant $a \in [0, 1)$ such that

$$d(f(x), f(y)) \le a \max\{d(x, f(x)), d(y, f(y))\}, \forall x, y \in X;$$

(v) (Reich [64], Rus [69]) there exist the real numbers $a, b, c \in \mathbb{R}_+$ with a + b + c < 1 such that for any $x, y \in X$,

$$d(f(x), f(y)) \le ad(x, y) + bd(x, f(x)) + cd(y, f(y)).$$

Ljubomir Ćirić weakened the above conditions introducing in 1971 the notion of generalized contraction.

Definition 1.3.3. (Ćirić [8]) Let (X, d) be a metric space. An operator $f : X \to X$ is said to be a *lambda*-generalized contraction iff for every $x, y \in X$ there are non-negative numbers q(x, y), r(x, y), s(x, y) and t(x, y) with

$$\sup\{q(x,y) + r(x,y) + s(x,y) + 2t(x,y) \mid x, y \in X\} = \lambda < 1$$

such that $d(f(x), f(y)) \le q(x, y)d(x, y) + r(x, y)d(x, f(x)) +$

$$+s(x,y)d(y,f(y)) + t(x,y)(d(x,f(y)) + d(y,f(x))).$$

Remark 1.3.4. (Cirić [9]) f is a generalized contraction if and only if there exists $q \in [0, 1)$ such that for any $x, y \in X$,

$$d(f(x), f(y)) \le qM(x, y),$$

where M(x, y) =

$$= \max\{d(x,y), d(x,f(x)), d(y), f(y)), \frac{1}{2}[d(x,f(y)) + d(y,f(x))]\}.$$
(1.3.2)

Example 1.3.5. (Ćirić [8]) Let X = [0, 2], and let $f : X \to X$, $f(x) = \frac{x}{9}$, for $0 \le x \le 1$; $f(x) = \frac{x}{10}$, for $1 < x \le 2$. The operator f is not a contraction but is a generalized contraction.

Definition 1.3.6. [9] Let (X, d) be a metric space and let $T : X \to P_{cl}(X)$ be a multi-valued operator. T is said to be a generalized multi-valued q-contraction if there exists $q \in (0, 1)$ such that

$$H(T(x), T(y)) \le \le q \cdot \max\left\{ d(x, y), D(x, T(x)), D(y, T(y)), \frac{1}{2} [D(x, T(y)) + D(y, T(x))] \right\},\$$

holds for every $x, y \in X$.

Definition 1.3.7. [8] Let (X, d) be a metric space and let $f : X \to X$ be a single-valued operator. X is said to be f-orbitally complete if every Cauchy sequence $(f^{n_i}(x))_{i \in \mathbb{N}}, x \in X$, has a limit point in X.

Definition 1.3.8. [9] Let (X, d) be a metric space and let $T : X \to P(X)$ be a multi-valued operator. X is said to be T-orbitally complete if every Cauchy sequence $(x_{n_i})_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$ with $x_{n_i} \in T(x_{n_i-1})$ converges in X.

Theorem 1.3.9. [8] Let f be a λ -generalized contraction of f-orbitally complete metric space (X, d) into itself. Then

- (1) f has a unique fixed point $x^* \in X$;
- (2) the Picard iteration $(x_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ defined by

$$x_n = f(x_{n-1}), \ n \ge 1,$$
 (1.3.3)

converges to x^* for any starting point $x_0 \in X$;

(3) the following estimate holds:

$$d(x_n, x^*) \le \frac{\lambda^n}{1-\lambda} \cdot d(x_0, x_1), \forall n \ge 0.$$

Theorem 1.3.10. [9] Let $T: X \to P_{cl}(X)$ be a generalized multi-valued q-contraction and let (X, d) be a T-orbitally complete metric space.

Then the following statements hold:

(1) $F_T \neq \emptyset$;

(2) there exists a sequence $(x_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ of successive approximations of T starting from any point $(x, y) \in \text{Graph}(T)$, that converges to a fixed point $x^*(x, y) \in X$;

(3) the following estimate holds:

$$d(x_n, x^*(x, y)) \le \frac{q^{an}}{1 - q^a} \cdot d(x_0, x_1), \forall a \in (0, 1), \forall n \ge 0.$$

Another consistent way to generalize Banach contraction principle was presented in 2003 by Kirk, Srinivasan and Veeramani, using the concept of cyclic operator.

Definition 1.3.11. (Kirk, Srinivasan, Veeramani [29]) Let A and B be two nonempty sets. An operator $f: A \cup B \to A \cup B$ is called cyclic if $f(A) \subseteq B$ and $f(B) \subseteq A$.

They prove the following results.

Theorem 1.3.12. [29] Let A and B be two nonempty subsets of a complete metric space (X, d)and suppose $f: X \to X$ satisfies the following conditions:

- (1) $f(A) \subseteq B$ and $f(B) \subseteq A$;
- (2) $d(f(x), f(y)) \leq kd(x, y), \forall x \in A, \forall y \in B, where k \in (0, 1).$

Then f has a unique fixed point.

Theorem 1.3.13. [29] Let $\{A_i\}_{i=1}^m$ be nonempty subsets of a complete metric space and suppose $f: \bigcup_{\substack{i=1\\(1)}}^{m} A_i \to \bigcup_{\substack{i=1\\(1)}}^{m} A_i \text{ satisfies the following conditions (where } A_{m+1} = A_1):$

(2) $d(f(x), f(y)) \leq \psi(d(x, y)), \ \forall x \in A_i, \ \forall y \in A_{i+1}, \ for \ 1 \leq i \leq m, \ where \ \psi : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+ \ is$ upper semi-continuous from the right and satisfies $0 < \psi(t) < t$ for t > 0.

Then f has a unique fixed point.

This results suggested the introduction of the following definition.

Definition 1.3.14. Let X be a nonempty set, m a positive integer and $T: X \to P(X)$ a multi-valued operator. By definition, $\bigcup_{i=1}^{m} A_i$ is a cyclic representation of X with respect to T if: (i) $X = \bigcup_{i=1}^{m} A_i$, with $A_i \in P(X)$, for $1 \le i \le m$; (ii) $T(A_i) \subseteq A_{i+1}$, for $1 \le i \le m$, where $A_{m+1} = A_1$.

For the particular case of a single-valued operator see Rus [68].

1.4 Basic best proximity point theorems

The best proximity problem for a cyclic multi-valued operator is defined as follows:

If (X, d) is a metric space, $A, B \in P(X), T : A \cup B \to P(X)$ is a multi-valued operator satisfying the cyclic condition $T(A) \subseteq B, T(B) \subseteq A$, then we are interested to find

$$x^* \in A \cup B$$
 such that $D(x^*, T(x^*)) = D(A, B).$ (1.4.1)

 x^* is said to be a best proximity point of T.

In particular, if the operator is single-valued then we get the following best proximity problem for a cyclic single-valued operator:

If (X, d) is a metric space, $A, B \in P(X), f : A \cup B \to X$ is a single-valued operator satisfying the cyclic condition $f(A) \subseteq B, f(B) \subseteq A$, then we are interested to find

$$x^* \in A \cup B$$
 such that $d(x^*, f(x^*)) = D(A, B).$ (1.4.2)

 x^* is said to be a best proximity point of f.

Eldred and Veeramani proved in 2006 the following theorem which ensures the existence of a best proximity point of cyclic contractions in the framework of uniformly convex Banach spaces.

Theorem 1.4.1. (Eldred, Veeramani [16])

Let A and B be nonempty closed and convex subsets of a uniformly convex Banach space. Suppose $f: A \cup B \to A \cup B$ is a cyclic contraction map, that is f satisfies to following conditions:

(1) $f(A) \subseteq B$ and $f(B) \subseteq A$; (2) $||f(x) - f(y)|| \le k ||x - y|| + (1 - k)D(A, B), \forall x \in A, \forall y \in B,$ where $k \in (0, 1)$.

Then there exists a unique best proximity point in A. Further, if $x_0 \in A$ and $x_{n+1} = f(x_n)$, then $(x_{2n})_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges to the best proximity point.

In 2009, Suzuki, Kikkawa and C. Vetro introduced the property UC and extended Theorem 1.4.1 to metric spaces with the property UC.

Definition 1.4.2. (Suzuki, Kikkawa, C. Vetro [77]) Let A and B be nonempty subsets of a metric space (X, d). Then (A, B) is said to satisfy the property UC if for $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ and $(z_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ sequences in A and $(y_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ a sequence in B such that $d(x_n, y_n) \to D(A, B)$ and $d(z_n, y_n) \to D(A, B)$ as $n \to \infty$, then $d(x_n, z_n) \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$.

The following are examples of pairs of nonempty subsets of a metric space satisfying the property UC.

Proposition 1.4.3. Any pair of nonempty subsets (A, B) of a metric space (X, d) with D(A, B) = 0 has the property UC.

Proposition 1.4.4. (Eldred, Veeramani [16]) Any pair of nonempty subsets (A, B) of a uniformly convex Banach space with A convex has the property UC.

Theorem 1.4.5. [77] Let (X, d) be a metric space and let A and B be nonempty subsets of X such that (A, B) satisfies the property UC. Assume that A is complete. Let $f : A \cup B \to X$ be a cyclic mapping, that is $f(A) \subseteq B$ and $f(B) \subseteq A$.

Assume that there exists $k \in (0, 1)$ such that for each $x \in A$ and $y \in B$,

 $d(f(x), f(y)) \le k \max \{ d(x, y), d(x, f(x)), d(y, f(y)) \} + (1 - k)D(A, B).$

Then the following hold:

(i) f has a unique best proximity point $z \in A$.

(ii) z is a unique fixed point of f^2 in A.

(iii) $(f^{2n}(x))_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges to z for every $x \in A$.

(iv) f has at least one best proximity point in B.

(v) If (B, A) satisfies the property UC, then f(z) is a unique best proximity point in B and $(f^{2n}(y))_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges to f(z) for every $y \in B$.

Theorem 1.4.6. (Neammanee, Kaewkhao [42]) Let A and B be nonempty subsets of a metric space (X, d) such that (A, B) satisfies the property UC and A is complete. Let $T : A \cup B \to P(X)$ with closed bounded valued, be a multi-valued cyclic contraction, that is:

(i) $T(A) \subseteq B$ and $T(B) \subseteq A$;

(ii) there exists $k \in (0,1)$ such that for any $x \in A$, $y \in B$,

$$H(T(x), T(y)) \le kd(x, y) + (1 - k)D(A, B).$$

Then T has a best proximity point in A.

1.5 Basic coupled fixed point theorems

A very useful concept in many applications, especially to the theory of integral and differential equations and inclusions, is the coupled fixed point theory. Opoitsev in [43] considered, for the first time, the coupled fixed point problem, but the issue gets a fast development by the seminal works of D. Guo and V. Lakshmikantham [20] and T.G. Bhaskar, V. Lakshmikantham [5]. A new research direction for the theory of coupled fixed points was developed by many authors (see [4], [21], [31], [57], [58], [60], [73]) using contractive type conditions.

We give the notion of coupled fixed point in terms of single-valued, respectively multi-valued operators.

Definition 1.5.1. Let X be a nonempty set. A pair $(x, y) \in X \times X$ is called coupled fixed point of the single-valued operator $F: X \times X \to X$ if

$$\begin{cases} F(x,y) = x \\ F(y,x) = y. \end{cases}$$
(1.5.1)

If F(x, x) = x then x is called strong coupled fixed point of F (also called, in several papers, fixed point of F).

Definition 1.5.2. Let X be a nonempty set. A pair $(x, y) \in X \times X$ is called coupled fixed point of the multi-valued operator $F : X \times X \to P(X)$ if

$$\begin{cases} x \in F(x,y) \\ y \in F(y,x). \end{cases}$$
(1.5.2)

If $x \in F(x, x)$ then x is called strong coupled fixed point of F.

In order to state the main result in [5], we need the following notion.

Definition 1.5.3. Let (X, \leq) be a partially ordered set. We say that $F : X \times X \to X$ has the mixed monotone property if F(x, y) is monotone increasing in x and is monotone decreasing in y, that is, for any $x, y \in X$,

$$x_1, x_2 \in X, x_1 \le x_2 \Rightarrow F(x_1, y) \le F(x_2, y),$$

respectively,

$$y_1, y_2 \in X, y_1 \le y_2 \Rightarrow F(x, y_1) \ge F(x, y_2).$$

Theorem 1.5.4. (Bhaskar, Lakshmikantham [5])

Let (X, \leq) be a partially ordered set and suppose there is a metric d on X such that (X, d) is a complete metric space. Let $F : X \times X \to X$ be a continuous operator having the mixed monotone property on X.

Assume that there exists a constant $k \in [0, 1)$ with

$$d(F(x,y), F(u,v)) \le \frac{k}{2} \cdot [d(x,u)) + d(y,v)], \forall x \ge u, \forall y \le v.$$
(1.5.3)

If there exists $x_0, y_0 \in X$ such that

$$x_0 \le F(x_0, y_0) \text{ and } y_0 \ge F(y_0, x_0),$$
 (1.5.4)

then there exist $x, y \in X$ such that

$$x = F(x, y)$$
 and $y = F(y, x)$.

Also, Bhaskar and Lakshmikantham established in [5] uniqueness results of the coupled fixed point under an additional assumption on the metric space, as well as existence results of the strong coupled fixed point.

Remark 1.5.5. If (X, d) is a complete metric space without a partially order and (1.5.3) is supposed to hold for any pairs $(x, y), (u, v) \in X \times X$, then we can get existence and uniqueness of the strong coupled fixed point without the continuity and monotonicity conditions and without the assumption (1.5.4).

A more general result was given by A. Petruşel et al. in [59] for symmetric multi-valued contractions:

Theorem 1.5.6. (A. Petruşel, G. Petruşel, Samet, Yao [59]) Let (X, \leq, d) be an ordered b-metric space with constant $s \geq 1$ such that the b-metric d is complete. Let $G : X \times X \to P_{cl}(X)$ be a multi-valued operator having the strict mixed monotone property with respect to " \leq ". Assume:

(i) there exists $k \in (0, \frac{1}{s})$ such that

$$H_d(G(x,y),G(u,v)) + H_d(G(y,x),G(v,u)) \le k[d(x,u) + d(y,v)], \forall x \le u, y \succeq v;$$

(ii) there exist $(x_0, y_0) \in X \times X$ and $(x_1, y_1) \in G(x_0, y_0) \times G(y_0, x_0)$ such that $x_0 \preceq x_1$ and $y_0 \succeq y_1$.

Then, there exist $x^*, y^* \in X$ and there exist two sequences $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ and $(y_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ in X, with $x_{n+1} \in G(x_n, y_n)$ and $y_{n+1} \in G(y_n, x_n)$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, such that $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \to x^*$, $(y_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \to y^*$ as $n \to \infty$ and

$$\begin{cases} x^* \in G(x^*, y^*) \\ y^* \in G(y^*, x^*). \end{cases}$$

If, in addition, the b-metric d is continuous, then, for the above mentioned two sequences $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ and $(y_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$, the following estimation holds:

$$d(x_n, x^*) + d(y_n, y^*) \le \frac{sk^n}{1 - sk} [d(x_0, x_1) + d(y_0, y_1)], \forall n \in \mathbb{N}^*.$$

We present now the concept of cyclic coupled single-valued operator.

Definition 1.5.7. (Choudhury, Maity [11]) Let A and B two nonempty subsets of a given set X. An operator $F: X \times X \to X$ having the property that for any $x \in A$ and $y \in B$, $F(x, y) \in B$ and $F(y, x) \in A$, is called a cyclic operator with respect to A and B.

Definition 1.5.8. [11] Let A and B two nonempty subsets of a metric space (X, d). An operator $F: X \times X \to X$ is called a cyclic coupled Kannan type contraction if F is cyclic with respect to A and B, satisfying for some $k \in (0, \frac{1}{2})$ the inequality:

$$d(F(x, y), F(u, v)) \le k \cdot [d(x, F(x, y)) + d(u, F(u, v))],$$

where $x, v \in A, y, u \in B$.

Theorem 1.5.9. [11] Let A and B two nonempty closed subsets of a completed metric space (X, d). Let $F : X \times X \to X$ be a cyclic coupled Kannan type contraction with respect to A and B and $A \cap B \neq \emptyset$. Then F has a strong coupled fixed point in $A \cap B$.

Definition 1.5.10. (Choudhury, Maity, Konar [12]) Let A and B two nonempty subsets of a metric space (X, d). An operator $F : X \times X \to X$ is called a Banach type coupling if F is cyclic with respect to A and B, and if it satisfies the following inequality:

$$d(F(x,y),F(u,v)) \le \frac{k}{2} \cdot [d(x,u) + d(y,v)],$$

where $x, v \in A$, $y, u \in B$, and $k \in (0, 1)$.

Theorem 1.5.11. [12] Let A and B two nonempty closed subsets of a completed metric space (X, d). Let $F : X \times X \to X$ be a Banach type coupling with respect to A and B. Then $A \cap B \neq \emptyset$ and F has a unique strong coupled fixed point in $A \cap B$.

Definition 1.5.12. [12] Let A and B two nonempty subsets of a metric space (X, d). An operator $F: X \times X \to X$ is called a Chatterjea type coupling if F is cyclic with respect to A and B, and if it satisfies the following inequality:

$$d(F(x, y), F(u, v)) \le k \cdot [d(x, F(u, v)) + d(u, F(x, y))],$$

where $x, v \in A, y, u \in B$, and $k \in (0, \frac{1}{2})$.

Theorem 1.5.13. [12] Let A and B two nonempty closed subsets of a completed metric space (X, d). Let $F : X \times X \to X$ be a Chatterjea type coupling with respect to A and B. Then $A \cap B \neq \emptyset$ and F has a unique strong coupled fixed point in $A \cap B$.

Definition 1.5.14. (Udo-utun [78]) Let A and B two nonempty subsets of a metric space (X, d). An operator $F : X \times X \to X$ is called a cyclic Ćirić operator with respect to A and B if F is cyclic with respect to A and B and for some constant $q \in (0, 1)$, F satisfies the following condition:

$$d(F(x,y),F(u,v)) \le q \cdot M(x,v,y,u),$$

where $x, v \in A, y, u \in B$, and

$$M(x, v, y, u) = \max\left\{d(x, u), \frac{1}{2}d(u, F(x, y)), \frac{1}{2}d(x, F(u, v)), \frac{1}{2}[d(x, F(x, y)) + d(u, F(u, v))]\right\}$$

Theorem 1.5.15. [78] Let A and B be two nonempty closed subsets of a complete metric space $(X, d), F : X \times X \to X$ a cyclic Ćirić type operator with respect to A and B, with $A \cap B \neq \emptyset$. Then F has a strong coupled fixed point in $A \cap B$.

Chapter 2

Single-valued generalized contractions on cyclic representations

In this chapter, we present fixed point results for single-valued operators defined on cyclic representations in metric spaces and in spaces endowed with vector-valued metrics. This chapter has three sections.

In the **first section** we investigate properties of some Cirić type generalized contractions defined on cyclic representations in a metric space.

The Cirić type generalized contraction condition is one of the most general metrical condition for which the set of fixed points is a singleton and the fixed points can be approximated by means of Picard iteration. Our results generalize fundamental metrical fixed point theorems in literature given for Banach, Kannan, Bianchini, Reich, Chatterjea, Zamfirescu, Ćirić type operators (see [52], [66]), in the case of a cyclic condition (see [47]). Also, the main result Theorem 2.1.5 is a generalization of the following results: Theorem 2.1.1 given in [50] and Theorem 2.1.3 given in [44].

In this section we will present an extended study of the fixed point equation x = f(x) with a cyclic operator of Ćirić type. More precisely, existence and uniqueness results for fixed points of single-valued cyclic φ -contraction of Ćirić type, as well as convergence results for Picard iteration to these fixed points are proved. This study also deals with data dependence of the fixed point, well posedness of the fixed point problem and sequences of operators and fixed points. We will state a Maia type theorem regarding Ćirić type generalized contractions defined on cyclic representations.

The original contributions in the first section are the following results:

• Theorem 2.1.5 extends fixed point results for contractive operators defined on cyclic representation of the space;

• Theorem 2.1.7 is a result concerning the well posedness of the fixed point equation;

• Theorem 2.1.8 studies the data dependence of the fixed point equation;

• Theorem 2.1.9 is a convergence result of a sequence of fixed points of a sequence of operators uniformly convergent to the given Ćirić type generalized contraction;

• Theorem 2.1.10 is a Maia type fixed point theorem for cyclic φ -contraction of Ćirić type.

The results presented in the first section are included in the following paper: Magdaş [33].

In the second section we present a Perov type theorem for cyclic operators. Our approach is based on Perov's fixed point theorem (see Theorem 2.2.3), in spaces endowed with vector-valued

metrics.

The original contributions in the second section are the following results:

• Theorem 2.2.5 is the main result, an extension of Theorem 1.3.1 and Theorem 1.3.12 in a space endowed with a vector-valued metric;

- Theorem 2.2.6 states a result regarding the data dependence of the fixed point equation;
- Theorem 2.2.7 studies the well posedness of the fixed point equation;

• Theorem 2.2.8 studies the existence and the uniqueness of the solution of a system of Fredholm type of integral equations; the solution of the system can be obtained by the successive appoximation;

• Theorem 2.2.9 is a result concerning the data dependence of the solution of the given system of Fredholm type of integral equations;

• Theorem 2.2.11 studies the existence and the uniqueness of the solution of a system of Volterra type of integral equations.

The results presented in this section are contained in the following paper: Magdaş [36].

In the **third section** we study the coupled fixed point problem for single-valued contraction type operators defined on cyclic representations of the space.

The original contributions in the third section are the following results:

• Theorem 2.3.2 is the main result which generalize theorems 1.5.9, 1.5.11, 1.5.13, 1.5.15; our result provides an iterative method for approximating the strong coupled fixed point and estimations which allow us to study qualitative properties of the coupled fixed point set;

• Theorem 2.3.4 studies the well posedness property of the coupled fixed point problem;

• Theorem 2.3.5 studies the data dependence of the coupled fixed point problem;

• Theorem 2.3.6 is a convergence result of a sequence of strong coupled fixed points of a sequence of operators uniformly convergent to the given cyclic coupled φ -contraction of Ćirić type;

• Theorem 2.3.8 studies the generalized Ulam-Hyers stability for the coupled fixed point problem;

• Theorem 2.3.9 studies the existence and the uniqueness of the solution of a system of Fredholm type of integral equations;

• Theorem 2.3.11 studies the generalized Ulam-Hyers stability of the given system;

• Theorem 2.3.12 studies the existence and the uniqueness of the solution of a system of Volterra type of integral equations.

The results presented in this section are contained in the following paper: Magdas [35].

2.1 A study of the fixed point problem for Ćirić type single-valued operators satisfying a cyclic condition

The purpose of this section is to investigate the properties of some Cirić type generalized contractions defined on cyclic representations in a metric space.

Following the work of Kirk, Srinivasan and Veeramani in [29], many authors studied the existence, uniqueness and qualitative properties of the fixed point of a cyclic operator.

Zamfirescu's theorem (see [81]) is a generalization of Banach's, Kannan's and Chatterjea's fixed point theorems. Petric and Zlatanov asserted the following result for cyclic operators, generalizing Zamfirescu's fixed point theorem.

Theorem 2.1.1. (Petric, Zlatanov [50]) Let (X, d) be a metric space, m a positive integer, $A_1, \ldots, A_m \in P_{cl}(X)$, and let $f: \bigcup_{i=1}^m A_i \to \bigcup_{i=1}^m A_i$ be a cyclical operator, that is $f(A_i) \subseteq A_{i+1}$, for $1 \leq i \leq m$, where $A_{m+1} = A_1$. Suppose that there exist real numbers $a \in [0, 1), b, c \in [0, \frac{1}{2})$ such that for each $x \in A_i$, $y \in A_{i+1}$ at least one of the following is true: $(z1) \ d(f(x), f(y)) \leq ad(x, y);$ $(z2) \ d(f(x), f(y)) \leq b[d(x, f(x)) + d(y, f(y))];$ $(z3) \ d(f(x), f(y)) \leq c[d(x, f(y)) + d(y, f(x))].$ Then:

(1) f has a unique fixed point $x^* \in \bigcap_{i=1}^m A_i$ and the Picard iteration $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ given by (1.3.1) converges to x^* for any starting point $x_0 \in \bigcup_{i=1}^m A_i$.

(2) the following estimates hold:

$$d(x_n, x^*) \le \frac{\lambda^n}{1 - \lambda} d(x_0, x_1), \ n \ge 0;$$

 $d(x_{n+1}, x^*) \le \frac{\lambda}{1 - \lambda} d(x_n, x_{n+1}), \ n \ge 0;$

(3) the rate of convergence of Picard iteration is given by:

$$d(x_n, x^*) \le \lambda d(x_{n-1}, x^*), \ n \ge 1$$

where $\lambda = \max\left\{a, \frac{b}{1-b}, \frac{c}{1-c}\right\}.$

Păcurar and Rus presented in [44] a fixed point theorem for cyclic φ -contractions.

Definition 2.1.2. (Păcurar, Rus [44]) Let (X, d) be a metric space, m a positive integer, $A_1, \ldots, A_m \in P_{cl}(X), Y \in P(X)$ and $f: Y \to Y$ an operator. If

- (i) $\bigcup_{i=1}^{m} A_i$ is a cyclic representation of Y with respect to f;
- (ii) there exists a comparison function $\varphi : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ such that

$$d(f(x), f(y)) \le \varphi(d(x, y)),$$

for any $x \in A_i$, $y \in A_{i+1}$, $1 \le i \le m$, where $A_{m+1} = A_1$, then f is a cyclic φ -contraction.

Theorem 2.1.3. [44] Let (X, d) be a complete metric space, m a positive integer, $A_1, \ldots, A_m \in P_{cl}(X), Y \in P(X), \varphi : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ be a (c)-comparison function, and $f : Y \to Y$ be an operator. Assume that:

(i) $\bigcup_{i=1}^{m} A_i$ is a cyclic representation of Y with respect to f; (ii) f is a cyclic φ -contraction. Then:

(1) f has a unique fixed point $x^* \in \bigcap_{i=1}^{m} A_i$ and the Picard iteration $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ given by (1.3.1) converges to x^* for any starting point $x_0 \in Y$.

(2) the following estimates hold:

$$d(x_n, x^*) \le s(\varphi^n(d(x_0, x_1))), \ n \ge 1;$$

$$d(x_n, x^*) \le s(d(x_n, x_{n+1})), n \ge 1;$$

(3) for any $x \in Y$:

$$d(x, x^*) \le s(d(x, f(x))),$$

where s is given by (1.2.1) in Lemma 1.2.3.

Further on we present the notion of cyclic φ -contraction of Ćirić type.

Definition 2.1.4. (Magdaş [33]) Let (X, d) be a metric space, $Y \in P(X), f : Y \to Y$ be an operator, $m \in \mathbb{N}^*$, $A_1, \dots, A_m \in P_{cl}(X)$. If (i) $\bigcup_{i=1}^m A_i$ is a cyclic representation of Y with respect to f;

- (ii) there exists a strong comparison function $\varphi : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ such that

$$d(f(x), f(y)) \le \varphi(M(x, y)),$$

for any $x \in A_i$, $y \in A_{i+1}$, $1 \le i \le m$, where $A_{m+1} = A_1$ and M(x, y) is given by (1.3.2), then f is said to be a cyclic φ -contraction of Ćirić type.

The main result of this section is the following theorem which generalizes some similar results for Cirić type operators (see Petrusel [52], Rhoades [66]), in the case of a cyclic condition (see Petric [47]). Also, the following theorem generalizes Theorem 2.1.1 and Theorem 2.1.3.

Hereinafter we present an extended study of this theorem, study in connection with data dependence, well posedness of the fixed point problem, limit shadowing property and sequences of operators and fixed points.

Theorem 2.1.5. (Magdas [33]) Let (X, d) be a complete metric space, m be a positive integer, $A_1, \ldots, A_m \in P_{cl}(X), Y \in P(X), \varphi : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ be a strong comparison function, and $f : Y \to Y$ be an operator such that $\bigcup_{i=1}^m A_i$ is a cyclic representation of Y with respect to f. Assume that f is a cyclic φ -contraction of Ćirić type.

Then:

(1) f has a unique fixed point $x^* \in \bigcap_{i=1}^m A_i$ and the Picard iteration $(x_n)_{n\geq 0}$ given by (1.3.1) converges to x^* for any starting point $x_0 \in Y$;

(2) the following estimates hold:

$$d(x_n, x^*) \le s(\varphi^n(d(x_0, x_1))), \ n \ge 0;$$

$$d(x_n, x^*) \le s(d(x_n, x_{n+1})), \ n \ge 0;$$

(3) for any $x \in Y$,

 $d(x, x^*) \le s(d(x, f(x))),$

where s is given by (1.2.1) in Lemma 1.2.3;

(4) $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} d(x_n, x_{n+1}) < \infty$, *i.e.*, f is a good Picard operator; (5) $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} d(x_n, x^*) < \infty$, *i.e.*, f is a special Picard operator.

Remark 2.1.6. For a related result obtained by a different method, concerning the existence and uniqueness of the fixed point, we mention the paper [27]. Our results extend the above mentioned theorem for an extensive study of the fixed point problem.

The next result gives the well posedness property for the fixed point problem. For the concept of well posedness for the fixed point problems see Reich, Zaslavski [65].

Theorem 2.1.7. (Magdaş [33]) Let $f : Y \to Y$ be as in Theorem 2.1.5. Then the fixed point problem for f is well posed, that is, assuming there exist $z_n \in Y$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$d(z_n, f(z_n)) \to 0 \text{ as } n \to \infty,$$

this implies that

$$z_n \to x^* \text{ as } n \to \infty,$$

where $F_f = \{x^*\}.$

Theorem 2.1.8. (Magdaş [33]) Let $f : Y \to Y$ be as in Theorem 2.1.5, and $g : Y \to Y$ be such that:

(i) g has at least one fixed point $x_q^* \in F_g$;

(ii) there exists $\eta > 0$ such that

$$d(f(x), g(x)) \le \eta$$
, for any $x \in Y$.

Then $d(x_f^*, x_q^*) \leq s(\eta)$, where $F_f = \{x_f^*\}$ and s is defined in Lemma 1.2.3.

Theorem 2.1.9. (Magdaş [33]) Let $f: Y \to Y$ be as in Theorem 2.1.5 and $f_n: Y \to Y$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$ be such that:

(i) for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$ there exists $x_n^* \in F_{f_n}$;

(ii) $(f_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges uniformly to f.

Then $x_n^* \to x^*$ as $n \to \infty$, where $F_f = \{x^*\}$.

The following theorem is a Maia type result regarding Ćirić type generalized contractions defined on cyclic representations.

Theorem 2.1.10. (Magdaş [33]) Let X be a nonempty set, d and ρ be two metrics on X, m a positive integer, $A_1, \ldots, A_m \in P_{cl}(X)$, $Y \in P(X)$ and $f: Y \to Y$ be an operator. Assume that:

(i) there exists c > 0 such that $d(x, y) \le c \cdot \rho(x, y)$, for any $x, y \in Y$;

(ii) (Y, d) is a complete metric space;

(iii) $f: (Y, d) \to (Y, d)$ is continuous;

(iv) $f: (Y, \rho) \to (Y, \rho)$ is a cyclic φ -contraction of Ćirić type.

Then f has a unique fixed point $x^* \in \bigcap_{i=1}^{\infty} A_i$ and the Picard iteration $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ given by (1.3.1) converges to x^* for any starting point $x_0 \in Y$.

Remark 2.1.11. It is an open problem to find conditions under which the operator $f: Y \to Y$ defined as in Theorem 2.1.5 has the Ostrowski's stability property that is, if $F_f = \{x^*\}$ and for any sequence $(z_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset Y$, with the property $d(z_{n+1}, f(z_n)) \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$, we have

$$z_n \to x^*$$
 as $n \to \infty$.

2.2 Perov type theorems for cyclic contractions

The aim of this section is to prove a fixed point theorem of Perov type for cyclic contractions on complete generalized metric spaces. Then, as applications, we will study the existence, uniqueness and approximation of the solution for a system of Fredholm type of integral equations, as well as the continuous dependence phenomenon of the given system. Also, we will study the existence and uniqueness of the solution for a system of Volterra type of integral equations.

The matrices convergent to zero were used by Perov and Kibenko [45] to generalize the contraction principle in the case of metric spaces with a vector-valued distance.

Theorem 2.2.1. (Varga [79], Rus, A. Petruşel, G. Petruşel [70])

Let $S \in \mathcal{M}_p(\mathbb{R}_+)$. The following statements are equivalent: (i) S is a matrix convergent to zero, that is $S^k \to 0$ as $k \to +\infty$; (ii) $S^k x \to 0$ as $k \to +\infty$, $\forall x \in \mathbb{R}^p$; (iii) $I_p - S$ is non-singular and

$$(I_p - S)^{-1} = I_p + S + S^2 + \dots$$
(2.2.1)

(iv) $I_p - S$ is non-singular and $(I_p - S)^{-1}$ has nonnegative elements;

(v) $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$, det $(S - \lambda I_p) = 0$ implies $|\lambda| < 1$.

Definition 2.2.2. (Rus, A. Petruşel, G. Petruşel [70]) Let (X,d) be a metric space with d: $X \times X \to \mathbb{R}^p_+$ a vector-valued distance and $f: X \to X$. The operator f is called an S-contraction if there exists a matrix $S \in \mathcal{M}_p(\mathbb{R}_+)$ such that:

(i) S is a matrix convergent to zero;

(ii) $d(f(x), f(y)) \leq Sd(x, y), \ \forall \ x, y \in X.$

Theorem 2.2.3. (Perov, Kibenko [45]) Let (X, d) be a complete metric space with $d: X \times X \to \mathbb{R}^p_+$ a vector-valued distance and $f: X \to X$ be an S-contraction. Then:

(i) f has a unique fixed point $x^* \in X$;

(ii) $f^k(x) \xrightarrow{d} x^*$ as $k \to +\infty$, for all $x \in X$; (iii) $d(f^k(x), x^*) \leq S^k(I_p - S)^{-1}d(x, f(x))$, for all $x \in X$ and $k \in \mathbb{N}$; (iv) $d(x, x^*) \leq (I_p - S)^{-1}d(x, f(x))$ for all $x \in X$.

We recall the following notion, introduced in [36], suggested by the considerations in [29].

Definition 2.2.4. (Magdas [36]) Let (X, d) be a metric space with $d : X \times X \to \mathbb{R}^p_+$ a vectorvalued distance, $A_1, \ldots, A_m \in P_{cl}(X)$ and $f : X \to X$ be an operator. If:

- (i) $\bigcup A_i$ is a cyclic representation of X with respect to f;
- (ii) there exists a matrix $S \in \mathcal{M}_p(\mathbb{R}_+)$ convergent to zero such that

 $d(f(x), f(y)) \leq S \cdot d(x, y)$, for any $x \in A_i, y \in A_{i+1}$, where $A_{m+1} = A_1$,

then, by definition, we say that f is a cyclic S-contraction.

The main result of this section is the following theorem which generalizes the Perov fixed point Theorem 2.2.3, in spaces endowed with vector-valued metrics.

Theorem 2.2.5. (Magdaş [36]) Let (X, d) be a complete metric space with $d : X \times X \to \mathbb{R}^p_+$ a vector-valued distance, $A_1, A_2, \ldots, A_m \in P_{cl}(X)$. If $f : X \to X$ is a cyclic S-contraction then the following statements hold:

(1) f has a unique fixed point $x^* \in \bigcap_{i=1}^{m} A_i$ and the Picard iteration $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ given by

$$x_n = f(x_{n-1}), \ n \ge 1,$$

converges to x^* for any starting point $x_0 \in X$;

(2) the following estimates hold:

$$d(x_n, x^*) \le S^n (I_p - S)^{-1} d(x_0, x_1), \ n \ge 1;$$
(2.2.2)

$$d(x_n, x^*) \le (I_p - S)^{-1} d(x_n, x_{n+1}), \ n \ge 1;$$
(2.2.3)

(3) for any $x \in X$,

$$d(x, x^*) \le (I_p - S)^{-1} d(x, f(x)).$$
(2.2.4)

The conclusions of Theorem 2.2.5 are useful to study the data dependence and the well posedness of the fixed point of a cyclic S-contraction.

Theorem 2.2.6. (Magdaş [36]) Let $f : X \to X$ be as in Theorem 2.2.5 with $F_f = \{x_f^*\}$. Let $g : X \to X$ be an operator such that:

(i) g has at least one fixed point x_q^* ;

(ii) there exists $\eta > 0$ such that

$$d(f(x), g(x)) \le \eta$$
, for any $x \in X$.

Then $d(x_f^*, x_g^*) \le \eta (I_p - S)^{-1}$.

Theorem 2.2.7. (Magdaş [36]) Let $f : X \to X$ be as in Theorem 2.2.5. Then the fixed point problem for f is well posed, that is, assuming there exist $z_n \in X$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $d(z_n, f(z_n)) \to 0$, as $n \to \infty$, this implies that $z_n \to x^*$, as $n \to \infty$, where $F_f = \{x^*\}$.

Further on we apply the results given by Theorem 2.2.5 to study existence and uniqueness of the solutions of the following system of Fredholm type integral equations:

$$\begin{cases} x_1(t) = \int_a^b G_1(t,s) f_1(s, x_1(s), x_2(s)) ds \\ x_2(t) = \int_a^b G_2(t,s) f_2(s, x_1(s), x_2(s)) ds \end{cases}$$
(2.2.5)

where $a, b \in \mathbb{R}, a < b$,

$$G_1, G_2 \in C([a, b] \times [a, b], [0, \infty)),$$
$$f_1, f_2 \in C([a, b] \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}).$$

Theorem 2.2.8. (Magdaş [36]) We suppose that:

(i) there exist $\alpha_k, \beta_k \in C[a, b], m_k, M_k \in \mathbb{R}, m_k \leq \alpha_k(t) \leq \beta_k(t) \leq M_k$, for any $t \in [a, b]$, such that for $k \in \{1, 2\}$,

$$\begin{cases} \alpha_k(t) \le \int_a^b G_k(t,s) f_k(s,\beta_1(s),\beta_2(s)) ds \\ \beta_k(t) \ge \int_a^b G_k(t,s) f_k(s,\alpha_1(s),\alpha_2(s)) ds \end{cases}, \text{ for any } t \in [a,b]. \tag{2.2.6}$$

(ii) there exist $a_1, b_1, a_2, b_2 \in \mathbb{R}_+$ such that

$$|f_1(s, u_1, u_2) - f_1(s, v_1, v_2)| \le a_1 |u_1 - v_1| + a_2 |u_2 - v_2|,$$

$$|f_2(s, u_1, u_2) - f_2(s, v_1, v_2)| \le b_1 |u_1 - v_1| + b_2 |u_2 - v_2|,$$
(2.2.7)

for any $s \in [a, b]$ and $u_k, v_k \in \mathbb{R}$, with

$$\begin{cases} u_k \leq M_k \\ v_k \geq m_k \end{cases} \quad or \quad \begin{cases} u_k \geq m_k \\ v_k \leq M_k \end{cases} \quad for \ k \in \{1, 2\};$$

 $\begin{array}{l} (iii) \ \sup_{t \in [a,b]} \int_{a}^{b} G_{k}(t,s) ds \leq 1 \ for \ k \in \{1,2\}; \\ (iv) \ f_{k} \ is \ decreasing \ in \ each \ of \ the \ last \ two \ variables, \ that \ is, \end{array}$

$$u_1, u_2, v_1, v_2 \in \mathbb{R}, \ u_1 \le v_1, \ u_2 \le v_2 \Rightarrow f_k(s, u, v) \ge f_k(s, u_2, v_2),$$

for any $s \in [a, b]$, and $k \in \{1, 2\}$ (v) the matrix $S = \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & a_2 \\ b_1 & b_2 \end{pmatrix}$ converges to zero.

Then the system (2.2.5) has a unique solution

 $x^* = (x_1^*, x_2^*) \in C([a, b], \mathbb{R}^2), \text{ with } \alpha_k \le x_k^* \le \beta_k, \text{ for } k \in \{1, 2\}.$

This solution can be obtained by the successive approximations method, starting at any element $x^0 \in C([a,b],\mathbb{R}^2)$. Moreover, if x^n is the n^{th} successive approximation, then we have the following estimation:

$$||x^* - x^n|| \le S^n (I_2 - S)^{-1} ||x^0 - x^1||,$$

where

$$||x|| = \begin{pmatrix} |x_1|_{\infty} \\ |x_2|_{\infty} \end{pmatrix} \quad and \quad |x|_{\infty} = \max_{t \in [a,b]} |x(t)|.$$

Further on we study the continuous dependence phenomenon for the system (2.2.5). We consider the perturbed system of integral equations

$$\begin{cases} y_1(t) = \int_a^b H_1(t,s)g_1(s,y_1(s),y_2(s))ds \\ y_2(t) = \int_a^b H_2(t,s)g_2(s,y_1(s),y_2(s))ds \end{cases}$$
(2.2.8)

where

$$H_1, H_2 \in C([a, b] \times [a, b], [0, \infty)), \quad g_1, g_2 \in C([a, b] \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}).$$

Theorem 2.2.9. (Magdas [36]) We suppose that the conditions of Theorem 2.2.5 are satisfied and we denote by x^* the unique solution of the system of integral equations (2.2.5).

If $y^* \in C([a, b], \mathbb{R}^2)$ is a solution of the perturbed system of integral equations (2.2.8), and

$$\sup_{t\in[a,b]}\int_{a}^{b}H_{k}(t,s)ds\leq 1,$$

then we have the following estimation:

$$\|x^* - y^*\|_{\mathbb{R}^2} \le (I_2 - S)^{-1} (\eta + \tau), \qquad (2.2.9)$$

where $\eta = (\eta_1, \eta_2), \tau = (\tau_1, \tau_2)$ and

$$\begin{cases} \eta_k = \sup\{|f_k(s, u, v)| \mid s \in [a, b], \ u, v \in \mathbb{R}\}, \\ \tau_k = \sup\{|g_k(s, u, v)| \mid s \in [a, b], \ u, v \in \mathbb{R}\}, \end{cases} for \ k \in \{1, 2\} \end{cases}$$

Remark 2.2.10. A similar approach can be achieved for a system of Volterra type integral equations using, instead of the supremum norm, the Bielecki type norm approach. For example, we have the following result.

Theorem 2.2.11. Considering the following system of Volterra type integral equations:

$$\begin{cases} x_1(t) = \int_a^t G_1(t,s) f_1(s, x_1(s), x_2(s)) ds \\ x_2(t) = \int_a^t G_2(t,s) f_2(s, x_1(s), x_2(s)) ds \end{cases}, t \in [a,b], \tag{2.2.10}$$

where $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$, a < b,

$$G_1, G_2 \in C([a, b] \times [a, b], [0, \infty)),$$
$$f_1, f_2 \in C([a, b] \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}),$$

we suppose that:

(i) there exist $\alpha_k, \beta_k \in C[a, b], m_k, M_k \in \mathbb{R}, m_k \leq \alpha_k(t) \leq \beta_k(t) \leq M_k$, for any $t \in [a, b]$, such that for $k \in \{1, 2\}$,

$$\begin{cases} \alpha_k(t) \le \int_a^t G_k(t,s) f_k(s,\beta_1(s),\beta_2(s)) ds \\ \beta_k(t) \ge \int_a^t G_k(t,s) f_k(s,\alpha_1(s),\alpha_2(s)) ds \end{cases}, \text{ for any } t \in [a,b]. \tag{2.2.11}$$

(ii) there exist $a_1, b_1, a_2, b_2 \in \mathbb{R}_+$ such that

$$|f_1(s, u_1, u_2) - f_1(s, v_1, v_2)| \le a_1 |u_1 - v_1| + a_2 |u_2 - v_2|,$$

$$|f_2(s, u_1, u_2) - f_2(s, v_1, v_2)| \le b_1 |u_1 - v_1| + b_2 |u_2 - v_2|,$$
(2.2.12)

for any $s \in [a, b]$ and $u_k, v_k \in \mathbb{R}$, with

$$\begin{cases} u_k \leq M_k & \\ v_k \geq m_k & \\ v_k \leq M_k & \end{cases} \quad for \ k \in \{1, 2\};$$

(iii) f_k is decreasing in each of the last two variables, that is,

$$u_1, u_2, v_1, v_2 \in \mathbb{R}, \ u_1 \le v_1, \ u_2 \le v_2 \Rightarrow f_k(s, u, v) \ge f_k(s, u_2, v_2),$$

for any $s \in [a, b]$, and $k \in \{1, 2\}$.

Then the system (2.2.10) has a unique solution $x^* = (x_1^*, x_2^*) \in C([a, b], \mathbb{R}^2)$, with $\alpha_k \leq x_k^* \leq \beta_k$, for $k \in \{1, 2\}$.

2.3 Coupled fixed point theorems for single-valued cyclic contraction type operators

The purpose of this section is to study the coupled fixed point problem for single-valued cyclic contraction type operators:

If (X, d) is a metric space, $A, B \in P(X), F : X \times X \to X$ is a single-valued operator satisfying the cyclic condition $F(A \times B) \subseteq B, F(B \times A) \subseteq A$, then we are interested to find $(x^*, y^*) \in X \times X$ such that

$$\begin{cases} F(x^*, y^*) = x^* \\ F(y^*, x^*) = y^*. \end{cases}$$
(2.3.1)

The pair (x^*, y^*) is called coupled fixed point of the single-valued operator $F: X \times X \to X$. If $x^* = y^*$ then x^* is said to be strong coupled fixed point of F.

The approach is based on fixed point results for appropriate operators generated by the initial problems.

The first aim of this section is to generalize Theorem 1.5.9, Theorem 1.5.11, Theorem 1.5.13 and Theorem 1.5.15, weakening the contractive condition. Also, we may observe that the assumption $A \cap B \neq \emptyset$ from Theorem 1.5.9 and Theorem 1.5.15 is not necessary. We also prove the uniqueness of the strong coupled fixed point and we provide an iterative method for approximating the strong coupled fixed point. On the other hand, some qualitative properties of the coupled fixed point set, such as data dependence, generalized Ulam-Hyers stability and well posedness are studied. Our approach is based on the following idea inspired by the work of A. Petruşel in [55]: we transform the coupled fixed point problem into a fixed point problem for an appropriate operator defined on a cartesian product of the spaces. In this way, many coupled fixed point results can be obtained using classical fixed point theorems.

We introduce now the following concept.

Definition 2.3.1. (Magdas [35])

Let (X, d) be a metric space, $A, B \in P_{cl}(X)$, $Y = A \cup B$ and $\varphi : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ a strong comparison function. By definition, an operator $F : Y \times Y \to Y$ is called a cyclic coupled φ -contraction of Ćirić type if the following statements hold:

(i) F is cyclic with respect to A and B;

(ii)

$$d(F(x,y),F(u,v)) \le \varphi(M(x,v,y,u)), \tag{2.3.2}$$

for any $x, v \in A$ and $y, u \in B$, where

$$\begin{split} M(x,v,y,u) &= \max \Big\{ d(x,u), d(v,y), d(x,F(x,y)), d(u,F(u,v)), d(v,F(v,u)), \\ &\quad d(y,F(y,x)), \frac{1}{2} [d(x,F(u,v)) + d(u,F(x,y))], \\ &\quad \frac{1}{2} [d(y,F(v,u)) + d(v,F(y,x))] \Big\}. \end{split}$$

The main result of this section is the following theorem which generalizes Theorem 1.5.9, Theorem 1.5.11, Theorem 1.5.13 and Theorem 1.5.15.

Theorem 2.3.2. (Magdaş [35]) Let (X, d) be a complete metric space, $A, B \in P_{cl}(X), Y = A \cup B$ and $F: Y \times Y \to Y$ a cyclic coupled φ -contraction of *Ćirić type*. Then: (1) F has a unique strong coupled fixed point $x^* \in A \cap B$;

(2) for any $(x_0, y_0) \in A \times B$, there exists a sequence $((x_n, y_n))_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset X \times X$ defined by

$$\begin{cases} x_n = F(y_{n-1}, x_{n-1}) \\ y_n = F(x_{n-1}, y_{n-1}) \end{cases}, \text{ for } n \ge 1, \end{cases}$$

that converges to (x^*, x^*) ;

(3) the following estimates hold for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$:

$$\max\{d(x_n, x^*), d(y_n, x^*)\} \le s(\varphi^n(\max\{d(x_0, F(x_0, y_0)), d(y_0, F(y_0, x_0))\}))$$
$$\max\{d(x_n, x^*), d(y_n, x^*)\} \le s(\max\{d(x_n, x_{n+1}), d(y_n, y_{n+1})\});$$

(4) for any $x, y \in Y$, $d(x, x^*) \leq s(\max\{d(x, F(x, y)), d(y, F(y, x))\})$, where s is given by Lemma 1.2.3.

Example 2.3.3. (Magdaş [35]) Let $X = \mathbb{R}, d(x, y) = |x - y|$, for any $x, y \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$A = [0, 2], B = [0, 1], Y = A \cup B, F : Y \times Y \to Y, F(x, y) = \frac{x + 3y}{9}.$$

It is easy to verify that F is cyclic with respect to A and B. For any $x, v \in A$ and $y, u \in B$,

$$\begin{split} d(F(x,y),F(u,v)) &= \left|\frac{x+3y}{9} - \frac{u+3v}{9}\right| \\ &= \left|\frac{x-u}{9} + \frac{y-v}{3}\right| \\ &\leq \left|\frac{1}{9}(x-u) + \frac{10}{27}(y-v)\right| \\ &= \frac{1}{3}\left|y - \frac{v+3u}{9} + \frac{y+3x}{9} - v\right| \\ &\leq \frac{1}{3}\left(\left|y - F(v,u)\right| + \left|v - F(y,x)\right|\right) \\ &\leq \frac{2}{3} \cdot \frac{1}{2}[d(y,F(v,u)) + d(v,F(y,x))] \end{split}$$

Then F is a cyclic coupled φ -contraction of Ćirić type, where $\varphi(t) = \frac{2}{3} \cdot t$.

The hypotheses of Theorem 2.3.2 are satisfied, so by Theorem 2.3.2, F has a unique strong coupled fixed point $x^* \in A \cap B$. By calculation we get:

$$F(x^*, x^*) = x^* \Leftrightarrow x^* = 0.$$

Our next theorem gives the well posedness property for the coupled fixed point problem.

Theorem 2.3.4. (Magdaş [35]) Let $F : Y \times Y \to Y$ be as in Theorem 2.3.2. Then the coupled fixed point problem is well posed, that is, if there exists a sequence $((a_n, b_n))_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset Y \times Y$ such that

$$\begin{cases} d(a_n, F(a_n, b_n)) \to 0\\ d(b_n, F(b_n, a_n)) \to 0 \end{cases} \quad as \ n \to \infty,$$

then $a_n \to x^*$ and $b_n \to x^*$, as $n \to \infty$.

For the data dependence problem we have the following result.

Theorem 2.3.5. (Magdaş [35]) Let $F : Y \times Y \to Y$ be as in Theorem 2.3.2. Let $G : Y \times Y \to Y$ be such that:

(i) G has at least one strong coupled fixed point x_G^* ;

(ii) there exists $\eta > 0$ such that

$$d(F(x,x),G(x,x)) \leq \eta$$
, for any $x \in Y$.

Then $d(x_F^*, x_G^*) \leq s(\eta)$, where x_F^* is the unique strong coupled fixed point of F and

$$s(t) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \varphi^k(t), \ t \in \mathbb{R}_+$$

Theorem 2.3.6. (Magdaş [35]) Let $F : Y \times Y \to Y$ be as in Theorem 2.3.2 and $F_n : Y \times Y \to Y$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$, be such that:

(i) for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$ there exists a strong coupled fixed point x_n^* of F_n ;

(ii) $(F_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges uniformly to F.

Then $\lim_{n\to\infty} x_n = x^*$, where x^* is the unique strong coupled fixed point of F.

We will discuss Ulam-Hyers stability for the coupled fixed point problem corresponding to a cyclic operator.

Definition 2.3.7. (Magdaş [35]) Let (X, d) be a metric space, $Y \in P(X)$ and let $F : Y \times Y \to Y$ be an operator. The coupled fixed point problem

$$\begin{cases} F(x,y) = x \\ F(y,x) = y \end{cases}, x, y \in Y$$
(2.3.3)

is called generalized Ulam-Hyers stable if there exists $\psi : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ increasing, continuous at 0 and $\psi(0) = 0$ such that for any $\varepsilon_1 > 0, \varepsilon_2 > 0$ and for any solution $(x, y) \in Y \times Y$ of the system

$$\begin{cases} d(x, F(x, y)) \le \varepsilon_1 \\ d(y, F(y, x)) \le \varepsilon_2 \end{cases}$$

there exists a solution (x^*, y^*) of the coupled fixed point problem such that

$$\begin{cases} d(x, x^*) \le \psi(\varepsilon) \\ d(y, y^*) \le \psi(\varepsilon) \end{cases}, \text{ where } \varepsilon = \max \{\varepsilon_1, \varepsilon_2\}. \end{cases}$$

In particular, if $x^* = y^*$, then we have generalized Ulam-Hyers stability for the strong coupled fixed point problem $F(x, x) = x, x \in Y$.

Theorem 2.3.8. (Magdaş [35]) Suppose that all the hypotheses of Theorem 2.3.2 hold. Then the coupled fixed point problem (2.3.3) is generalized Ulam-Hyers stable.

We apply the results given by Theorem 2.3.2 to study existence and uniqueness of the solutions of the following system of integral equations:

$$x(t) = \int_{a}^{b} G(t,s)f(s,x(s),y(s))ds , t \in [a,b]$$

$$y(t) = \int_{a}^{b} G(t,s)f(s,y(s),x(s))ds$$
(2.3.4)

where $a, b \in \mathbb{R}, a < b$,

$$G \in C([a, b] \times [a, b], [0, \infty)),$$
$$f \in C([a, b] \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}).$$

Theorem 2.3.9. (Magdas [35]) Suppose that:

(i) there exist $\alpha, \beta \in C[a, b]$, with $\alpha(t) \leq \beta(t)$, for any $t \in [a, b]$, such that

$$\begin{cases} \alpha(t) \leq \int_{a}^{b} G(t,s)f(s,\beta(s),\alpha(s))ds \\ for \ any \ t \in [a,b]; \end{cases}$$
(2.3.5)
$$\beta(t) \geq \int_{a}^{b} G(t,s)f(s,\alpha(s),\beta(s))ds$$

(ii) there exists a strong comparison function $\varphi : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ such that

$$|f(s, u_1, u_2) - f(s, v_1, v_2)| \le \varphi(\max\{|u_1 - v_1|, |u_2 - v_2|\}),$$

for any $s \in [a, b]$ and $u_1, u_2, v_1, v_2 \in \mathbb{R}$; (*iii*) $\sup_{t \in [a, b]} \int_a^b G(t, s) ds \le 1$;

- (iv) $f(s, \cdot, y)$ is monotone decreasing for any $s \in [a, b]$ and any $y \in \mathbb{R}$;
- (v) $f(s, x, \cdot)$ is monotone increasing for any $s \in [a, b]$ and any $x \in \mathbb{R}$.

Then the system (2.3.4) has a unique solution $(x^*, x^*) \in C([a, b], \mathbb{R}^2)$, with $\alpha \leq x^* \leq \beta$.

Definition 2.3.10. (Magdas [35]) The system (2.3.4) is said to be generalized Ulam-Hyers stable if there exists $\psi : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ increasing, continuous at 0 and $\psi(0) = 0$ such that for any $\varepsilon_1 > 0, \varepsilon_2 > 0$ and for any solution $(x, y) \in C([a, b], \mathbb{R}^2)$, of the system

$$\begin{cases} |x(t) - \int_a^b G(t,s)f(s,x(s),y(s))ds| \le \varepsilon_1 \\ |y(t) - \int_a^b G(t,s)f(s,y(s),x(s))ds| \le \varepsilon_2 \end{cases} \end{cases}$$

there exists a solution $(x^*, y^*) \in C([a, b], \mathbb{R}^2)$ of the system (2.3.4) such that for any $t \in [a, b]$,

$$\begin{cases} |x(t) - x^*(t)| \le \psi(\varepsilon) \\ |y(t) - y^*(t)| \le \psi(\varepsilon) \end{cases}, \text{ where } \varepsilon = \max\left\{\varepsilon_1, \varepsilon_2\right\}. \end{cases}$$

Theorem 2.3.11. (Magdas [35]) Suppose that the hypotheses of the Theorem 2.3.9 hold. Then the system (2.3.4) is generalized Ulam-Hyers stable.

Similar with the approach in Theorem 2.2.11, if we consider the following system of Volterra type of integral equations:

$$\begin{cases} x(t) = \int_{a}^{t} f(s, x(s), y(s)) ds \\ y(t) = \int_{a}^{t} f(s, y(s), x(s)) ds \end{cases}, t \in [a, b], \end{cases}$$
(2.3.6)

where $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$, $a < b, f \in C([a, b] \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R})$, then an existence and uniqueness result can be obtained working with a Bielecki type norm.

More precisely, we consider C[a, b] endowed with the following Bielecki type norm

$$|x|_B = \max_{t \in [a,b]} (|x(t)|e^{-\tau(t-a)}), \tau > 0.$$

Then $(C[a, b], |\cdot|_B)$ is a Banach space.

Theorem 2.3.12. Consider the system (2.3.6). We suppose that:

(i) there exist $\alpha, \beta \in C[a, b]$, with $\alpha(t) \leq \beta(t)$, for any $t \in [a, b]$, such that

$$\begin{cases} \alpha(t) \leq \int_{a}^{t} f(s, \beta(s), \alpha(s)) ds \\ \beta(t) \geq \int_{a}^{t} f(s, \alpha(s), \beta(s)) ds \end{cases}, \text{ for any } t \in [a, b]; \end{cases}$$

(ii) there exists a strong comparison function $\varphi : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ having the properties: (i) $_{\varphi}$ there exists $M > e^{b-a}$ such that for any $q \in (1, M)$ and t > 0,

$$\varphi(qt) \le q \cdot \varphi(t);$$

 $(ii)_{\varphi}$ for any $s \in [a, b]$ and $u_1, u_2, v_1, v_2 \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$|f(s, u_1, u_2) - f(s, v_1, v_2)| \le \varphi(\max\{|u_1 - v_1|, |u_2 - v_2|\});$$

(iii) $f(s, \cdot, y)$ is monotone decreasing for any $s \in [a, b]$ and any $y \in \mathbb{R}$;

(iv) $f(s, x, \cdot)$ is monotone increasing for any $s \in [a, b]$ and any $x \in \mathbb{R}$. Then the system (2.3.6) has a unique solution $(x^*, x^*) \in C([a, b], \mathbb{R}^2)$, with $\alpha \leq x^* \leq \beta$.

Chapter 3

Multi-valued generalized contractions on cyclic representations

In this chapter, we present fixed point and best proximity point results for multi-valued operators defined on cyclic representations in metric spaces. This chapter has three sections.

The purpose of the **first section** is to investigate the properties of multi-valued cyclic φ contractions of Ćirić type. In this situation, such operators T possess fixed points, i.e., $x \in X$ satisfying the relation $x \in T(x)$. Also, we will study data dependence and generalized UlamHyers stability of the fixed point inclusion $x \in T(x)$.

The original contributions in the first section are the following results:

• Theorem 3.1.4 is the main result of this section, an extension of other fixed point results for multi-valued contractive operators defined on cyclic representation of the space (see for example Theorem 3.1.6);

• Theorem 3.1.8 is a result concerning data dependence of the fixed point inclusion;

• Theorem 3.1.9 studies the generalized Ulam-Hyers stability of the fixed point inclusion.

The results presented in the first section are included in the following paper: Magdaş [34].

The purpose of the **second section** is to study existence of the solutions and generalized Ulam-Hyers stability of the best proximity problem for multi-valued Ćirić type cyclic operators.

The original contributions in the second section are the following results:

• Theorem 3.2.4, the first main result of this section, extends Theorem 1.4.5 (Suzuki, Kikkawa, Vetro, [77]) and Theorem 1.4.6 (Neammanee, Kaewkhao [42]) to the case of multi-valued Ćirić type cyclic operator which takes proximinal values, in the framework of metric spaces with the property UC;

• Theorem 3.2.8, the second main result of this section, proves that if φ is a subadditive strong comparison function, then the condition that the multi-valued operator takes proximinal values can be removed;

• Theorem 3.2.10 studies the generalized Ulam-Hyers stability of the best proximity problem for a cyclic multi-valued operator.

The results presented in this section are contained in the following paper: Magdaş [37].

In the **third section** we study the coupled fixed point problem and the coupled best proximity point problem for multi-valued cyclic contraction type operators.

The original contributions in the third section are the following results:

• Theorem 3.3.5 states a coupled fixed point result for cyclic coupled φ -contraction of Ćirić

type multi-valued operator;

• Theorem 3.3.7 is a result concerning the generalized Ulam-Hyers stability of the coupled fixed point problem;

• Theorem 3.3.10 studies the existence of the coupled best proximity point of a cyclic coupled Cirić type multi-valued operator which takes proximinal values, in the framework of metric spaces with the property UC.

The results presented in this section are contained in the following paper: Magdas [35].

3.1A study of the fixed point problem for Ćirić type multi-valued operators satisfying a cyclic condition

The aim of this section is to study the properties of multi-valued cyclic φ -contraction of Ćirić type. In this situation, such operators T possess fixed points, i.e., $x \in X$ satisfying the relation $x \in T(x)$. We construct a sequence of successive approximations of T that guarantees convergence from any starting point $(x, y) \in \operatorname{Graph}(T)$ to a point $x^* \in F_T$, the set of all fixed points of T. We also study data dependence and generalized Ulam-Hyers stability of the fixed point inclusion $x \in T(x)$.

Definition 3.1.1. (Magdaş [34]) Let (X, d) be a metric space, m a positive integer, $A_1, \ldots, A_m \in$ $P_{cl}(X), Y := \bigcup_{i=1}^{m} A_i \text{ and } T : Y \to P(Y) \text{ a multi-valued operator. If:}$ (i) $\bigcup_{i=1}^{m} A_i$ is a cyclic representation of Y with respect to T;

(ii) there exists a strong comparison function $\varphi : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ such that

$$\begin{split} H(T(x),T(y)) \leq \\ \leq \varphi \bigg(\max \bigg\{ d(x,y), D(x,T(x)), D(y,T(y)), \frac{1}{2} [D(x,T(y)) + D(y,T(x))] \bigg\} \bigg), \end{split}$$

for any $x \in A_i$, $y \in A_{i+1}$, where $A_{m+1} = A_1$,

then T is called a multi-valued cyclic φ -contraction of Ćirić type.

For the following notions see [53], [69] and [71].

Definition 3.1.2. Let (X, d) be a metric space. Then $T: X \to P(X)$ is called multi-valued weakly Picard operator (briefly MWP operator) if for each $(x, y) \in \text{Graph}(T)$ there exists a sequence $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ in X such that:

(i)
$$x_0 = x, x_1 = y;$$

- (ii) $x_{n+1} \in T(x_n)$, for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$;
- (iii) the sequence $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is convergent and its limit is a fixed point of T.

If $T: X \to P(X)$ is a MWP operator, then we define

$$T^{\infty}$$
: Graph $(T) \to P(F_T)$

by the formula

 $T^{\infty}(x,y) := \{z \in F_T \mid \text{there exists a sequence of successive} \}$ approximation of T starting from (x, y) that converges to z. **Definition 3.1.3.** (Lazăr [32]) Let (X, d) be a metric space and $T : X \to P(X)$ a MWP operator. Then T is called a ψ -multi-valued weakly Picard operator (ψ -MWP operator) if the function $\psi : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ is increasing and continuous at 0 such that $\psi(0) = 0$, and there exists a selection t^{∞} of T^{∞} such that

$$d(x, t^{\infty}(x, y)) \leq \psi(d(x, y))$$
, for all $(x, y) \in \operatorname{Graph}(T)$.

In particular, if $\psi(t) := ct$, with c > 0, then T is called a c-MWP operator (see [69]).

The main result of this section is the following theorem.

Theorem 3.1.4. (Magdaş [34]) Let (X, d) be a complete metric space, m be a positive integer, $A_1, A_2, \ldots, A_m \in P_{cl}(X), Y := \bigcup_{i=1}^m A_i, \varphi : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ be a strong comparison function and $T: Y \to P_{prox}(Y)$ be a multi-valued operator. Assume that:

(i) $\bigcup_{i=1} A_i$ is a cyclic representation of Y with respect to T;

(ii) T is a multi-valued cyclic φ -contraction of Éirić type.

Then the following statements hold:

(1)
$$F_T \neq \emptyset;$$

(2) for each $(x, y) \in \text{Graph}(T)$, there exists a sequence $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ of successive approximations of T starting from any point $(x, y) \in \text{Graph}(T)$, that converges to a fixed point $x^*(x, y) \in \bigcap_{i=1}^m A_i$, thus T is a MWP operator;

(3) the following estimations hold:

 $d(x_n, x^*(x, y)) \leq s(\varphi^n(d(x, y))), \text{ for any } (x, y) \in \operatorname{Graph}(T), n \geq 1,$

 $d(x_n, x^*(x, y)) \le s(d(x_n, x_{n+1})), \text{ for any } (x, y) \in \text{Graph}(T), n \ge 1;$

(4) for any $(x, y) \in \operatorname{Graph}(T)$,

 $d(x, x^*(x, y)) \leq s(d(x, y)), \text{ i.e. } T \text{ is an } s - MWP \text{ operator},$

where s is given by Lemma 1.2.3; ∞

(5)
$$\sum_{n=0} d(x_n, x_{n+1}) < \infty$$
, i.e. T is a good MWP operator.

Remark 3.1.5. If we choose $\varphi(t) = kt$, for $k \in (0, 1)$, then we have a generalization of the following theorem (Theorem 2.1 in [42]), where the multi-valued operator T takes closed and bounded values.

Theorem 3.1.6. (Neammanee, Kaewkhao [42]) Let A and B be nonempty closed subsets of a metric space (X,d). Suppose $T : A \cup B \to P(X)$ is a multi-valued mapping with closed and bounded valued, satisfying the conditions:

(i) $T(A) \subseteq B, T(B) \subseteq A;$

(ii) there exists $k \in (0,1)$ such that for any $x \in A$, $y \in B$,

$$H(T(x), T(y)) \le kd(x, y).$$

Then T has at least one fixed point in $A \cap B$.

Remark 3.1.7. If the strong comparison function φ is subadditive, then the proximinality condition can be less restrictive: the values of the multi-valued operator T should be closed. The proof runs in the same manner.

A data dependence theorem for the stated problem is:

Theorem 3.1.8. (Magdaş [34]) Let $T : Y \to P_{prox}(Y)$ be as in Theorem 3.1.4 and $U : Y \to P(Y)$ such that:

(i) $F_U \neq \emptyset$; (ii) there exists $\eta > 0$ such that

$$\rho(T(x), U(x)) \le \eta$$
, for any $x \in Y$.

Then $\rho(F_U, F_T) \leq s(\eta)$, where s is given by Lemma 1.2.3.

Theorem 3.1.9. (Magdaş [34]) (Generalized Ulam-Hyers stability of the inclusion $x \in T(x)$) Let $T: Y \to P_{prox}(Y)$ be as in Theorem 3.1.4, $\varepsilon > 0$ and $x \in Y$ be such that $D(x, T(x)) \leq \varepsilon$. Then there exists $x^* \in F_T$ such that $d(x, x^*) \leq s(\varepsilon)$, where s is given by Lemma 1.2.3.

Remark 3.1.10. Many open problems related to the multi-valued cyclic φ -contraction of Ćirić type operators can be discussed. We present here two such open questions:

1) Is the fixed point problem for a multi-valued operator $T: Y \to P_{prox}(Y)$ satisfying the conditions of Theorem 3.1.4 well-posed with respect to D?, that is, assuming there exists a sequence $(z_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset Y$ such that

$$D(z_n, T(z_n)) \to 0 \text{ as } n \to \infty,$$

it follows that $(z_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges to a fixed point of T.

2) In which conditions the operator $T: Y \to P_{prox}(Y)$ satisfying the assumptions in Theorem 3.1.4 has the limit shadowing property ?, that is, assuming that there exists a sequence $(z_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset Y$ such that $D(z_{n+1}, T(z_n)) \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$, then there exists a sequence $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset Y$ of successive approximations for T, such that $d(x_n, z_n) \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$.

3.2 Best proximity point theorems for multi-valued operators

The purpose of this section is to study existence of the solutions and generalized Ulam-Hyers stability of the following best proximity problem for a cyclic multi-valued operator:

If (X, d) is a metric space, $A, B \in P(X), T : A \cup B \to P(X)$ is a multi-valued operator satisfying the cyclic condition $T(A) \subseteq B, T(B) \subseteq A$, then we are interested to find

$$x^* \in A \cup B$$
 such that $D(x^*, T(x^*)) = D(A, B).$ (3.2.1)

 x^* is said to be a best proximity point of T.

The concept of multi-valued Cirić type cyclic operator is as follows.

Definition 3.2.1. (Magdaş [37]) Let (X, d) be a metric space, $A, B \in P(X)$, and $T : A \cup B \to P(X)$ be a multi-valued operator. If: (i) $T(A) \subseteq B, T(B) \subseteq A$; (ii) there exists a comparison function $\varphi : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ such that for any $x \in A, y \in B$,

$$H(T(x), T(y)) \le \varphi(M(x, y) - D(A, B)) + D(A, B),$$

where

$$M(x,y) = \max\left\{ d(x,y), D(x,T(x)), D(y,T(y)), \frac{1}{2}[D(x,T(y)) + D(y,T(x))] \right\},\$$

then T is called a multi-valued Ćirić type cyclic operator.

Example 3.2.2. The following operators are multi-valued Ciric type cyclic operators:

(1) A multi-valued cyclic contraction (see [42]) i.e. a multi-valued cyclic operator $T: A \cup B \rightarrow P(X)$ satisfying the condition:

there exists $k \in (0, 1)$ such that for any $x \in A, y \in B$,

$$H(T(x), T(y)) \le kd(x, y) + (1 - k)D(A, B).$$

(2) A multi-valued cyclic operator $T : A \cup B \to P(X)$ satisfying a Kannan type condition (for the single-valued case see [48]):

there exists $k \in (0, \frac{1}{2})$ such that for any $x \in A, y \in B$,

$$H(T(x), T(y)) \le k(D(x, T(x)) + D(y, T(y))) + (1 - 2k)D(A, B).$$

(3) A multi-valued cyclic operator $T: A \cup B \to P(X)$ satisfying a Bianchini type condition (for the single-valued case see [49]):

there exists $k \in (0, 1)$ such that for any $x \in A, y \in B$,

$$H(T(x), T(y)) \le k \cdot \max\{D(x, T(x)), D(y, T(y))\} + (1 - k)D(A, B).$$

The following lemma will be used to prove our results.

Lemma 3.2.3. [42] Let be (A, B) a pair of nonempty subsets of a metric space (X, d), satisfying the property UC, and let be a sequence $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ in A. If there exists a sequence $(y_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ in B such that $d(x_n, y_n) \to D(A, B)$ and $d(x_{n+1}, y_n) \to D(A, B)$, then $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a Cauchy sequence.

Our first main result extends Theorem 1.4.5 to multi-valued Cirić type cyclic operator in the framework of metric spaces with the property UC. More than that, it extends Theorem 1.4.6 to the case of multi-valued Cirić type cyclic operator in the setting of proximinal values.

Theorem 3.2.4. (Magdaş [37])

Let (X, d) be a complete metric space, $A \in P_{cl}(X)$, $B \in P(X)$, such that (A, B) satisfies the property UC. If $T : A \cup B \to P_{prox}(X)$ is a multi-valued Ćirić type cyclic operator, then the following statements hold:

(i) T has a best proximity point $x_A^* \in A$;

(ii) there exists a sequence $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ with $x_0 \in A$ and $x_{n+1} \in T(x_n)$, such that $(x_{2n})_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges to x_A^* .

Remark 3.2.5. If in Theorem 3.2.4 D(A, B) = 0, then we obtain a fixed point result similar to Theorem 3.1.4 for m = 2.

Theorem 3.2.6. (Magdaş [37])

Let (X, d) be a complete metric space, $A, B \in P_{cl}(X)$, such that the pairs (A, B) and (B, A) satisfy the property UC. Let $T : A \cup B \to P_{prox}(X)$ be a multi-valued operator. Then the following statements hold:

(i) If T is a multi-valued Ćirić type cyclic operator, then T has at least one best proximity point in A and at least one best proximity point in B;

(ii) If T satisfies the following stronger condition:

for any $x \in A$, $y \in B$,

$$\delta(T(x), T(y)) \le \varphi(M(x, y) - D(A, B)) + D(A, B),$$

then there exist a best proximity $x_A^* \in A$ and a best proximity point $x_B^* \in B$ such that:

$$d(x_A^*, x_B^*) \le \sup \{t \ge 0 \mid t - \varphi(t) \le 3D(A, B)\}.$$

Corollary 3.2.7. (Magdaş [37]) Let X be a uniformly convex Banach space, $A, B \in P_{cl,cv}(X)$ and $T: A \cup B \to P_{cl,cv}(X)$ be a multi-valued operator. Then the following statements hold:

(i) If T is a multi-valued Ćirić type cyclic operator, then T has at least one best proximity point in A and at least one best proximity point in B;

(ii) If T satisfies the following stronger condition:

for any $x \in A$, $y \in B$,

$$\delta(T(x), T(y)) \le \varphi(M(x, y) - D(A, B)) + D(A, B),$$

then there exist a best proximity $x_A^* \in A$ and a best proximity point $x_B^* \in B$ such that:

$$||x_A^* - x_B^*|| \le \sup\{t \ge 0 \mid t - \varphi(t) \le 3D(A, B)\}$$

If, in Theorem 3.2.6, φ is a subadditive strong comparison function, then the condition that the multi-valued operator takes proximinal values can be removed. More precisely, we obtain the second main result, as follows.

Theorem 3.2.8. (Magdaş [37]) Let (X, d) be a complete metric space, $A, B \in P_{cl}(X)$, such that (A, B) satisfies the property UC. If $T : A \cup B \to P(X)$ is a multi-valued Ćirić type cyclic operator, with a subadditive strong comparison function φ , then the following statements hold:

(i) T has a best proximity point $x_A^* \in A$;

(ii) there exists a sequence $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ with $x_{n+1} \in T(x_n)$ starting from an arbitrary $(x_0, x_1) \in Graph(T)$, such that $(x_{2n})_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges to x_A^* .

Hereinafter we define and study the generalized Ulam-Hyers stability of the best proximity problem (3.2.1) for a cyclic multi-valued operator.

Definition 3.2.9. (Magdaş [37]) Let (X, d) be a complete metric space and let $A, B \in P(X)$. Let $T : A \cup B \to P(X)$ be a multi-valued operator satisfying the cyclic condition $T(A) \subset B, T(B) \subset A$. The best proximity problem (3.2.1) is called generalized Ulam-Hyers stable if there exists $\psi : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ increasing, continuous at 0, with $\psi(0) = 0$ and there exists c > 0 such that for any $\varepsilon > 0$ and $x \in B$ with

$$D(x, T(x)) \le \varepsilon + D(A, B),$$

there exists a solution $x_A^* \in A$ of (3.2.1) such that

$$d(x, x_A^*) \le \psi(\varepsilon) + c \cdot D(A, B)$$

Our stability result is the following.

Theorem 3.2.10. (Magdaş [37]) Let (X, d) be a complete metric space, $A \in P_{cl}(X), B \in P(X)$, such that (A, B) satisfies the property UC and φ be a comparison function. Let $T : A \cup B \rightarrow P_{prox}(X)$ be a multi-valued operator. Assume that:

(i) $T(A) \subset B, T(B) \subset A;$ (ii) for any $x \in A, y \in B,$

 $\delta(T(x), T(y)) \le \varphi(\max\{D(x, T(x)), D(y, T(y))\} - D(A, B)) + D(A, B).$

Then the best proximity problem (3.2.1) is generalized Ulam-Hyers stable.

3.3 Coupled fixed point and coupled best proximity point theorems for multi-valued cyclic contraction type operators

The purpose of this section is to study the coupled fixed point problem and the coupled best proximity problem for multi-valued cyclic contraction type operators. The approach is based on fixed point results and best proximity point results for appropriate operators generated by the initial problems.

Definition 3.3.1. Let (X, d) be a metric space, $A, B \in P(X), Y = A \cup B$ and $\varphi : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ a strong comparison function. A multi-valued operator $F : Y \times Y \to P(Y)$ is called a cyclic coupled φ -contraction of Ćirić type multi-valued operator if the following statements hold:

(i) F is cyclic with respect to A and B, that is

$$F(A\times B)\subseteq B \text{ and } F(B\times A)\subseteq A;$$
 (ii) $H(F(x,y),F(u,v))\leq \varphi(\widetilde{M}(x,v,y,u)),$ for any $x,v\in A,\ y,u\in B,$ where

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{M}(x,v,y,u) = & \max \Big\{ d(x,u), d(v,y), D(x,F(x,y)), D(u,F(u,v)), D(v,F(v,u)), \\ & D(y,F(y,x)), \frac{1}{2} [D(x,F(u,v)) + D(u,F(x,y))], \\ & \frac{1}{2} [D(y,F(v,u)) + D(v,F(y,x))] \Big\}. \end{split}$$

The following theorem which is a particular case of Theorem 3.1.4 will be used to prove the first result in this section.

Theorem 3.3.2. Let (X, d) be a complete metric space, $A, B \in P_{cl}(X)$ and $T : A \cup B \rightarrow P_{prox}(A \cup B)$ a multi-valued cyclic φ -contraction of Ćirić type, that is:

(i) $T(A) \subseteq B$ and $T(B) \subseteq A$;

(ii) there exists a strong comparison function $\varphi : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ such that for any $x \in A$ and $y \in B$,

$$H(T(x), T(y)) \le \varphi \Big(\max \Big\{ d(x, y), D(x, T(x)), D(y, T(y)), \\ \frac{1}{2} [D(x, T(y)) + D(y, T(x))] \Big\} \Big)$$

Then the following statements hold:

(1) there exists $x^* \in A \cap B$ such that $x^* \in T(x^*)$;

(2) for any $x \in A$ and $y \in T(x)$, there exists a sequence $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ with $x_0 = x$, $x_1 = y$ and $x_n \in T(x_{n-1})$, $n \ge 1$, that converges to a fixed point $x^* \in A \cap B$ of T.

The following lemma presents well-known results throughout literature (see for example Mleşniţe, Petruşel [39]).

Lemma 3.3.3. Let (X, d) be a metric space, d^* the metric defined on $X \times X$ by

$$d^*(z, w) = \max\{d(x, u), d(y, v)\}, where \ z = (x, y), w = (u, v),$$
(3.3.1)

and D^* the gap functional, respectively H^* the generalized Pompeiu-Hausdorff functional generated by d^* . Then for any $a, b \in X$ and any $A, B, C, D \in P_{prox}(X)$, the following statements hold:

- (1) $D^*((a,b), C \times D) = \max \{D(a,C), D(b,D)\};$
- (2) $D^*(A \times B, C \times D) = \max \{D(A, C), D(B, D)\};$
- (3) $H^*(A \times B, C \times D) = \max\{H(A, C), H(B, D)\};$
- (4) $D^*(A \times B, B \times A) = D(A, B).$

Lemma 3.3.4. Let (X, d) be a metric space, d^* the metric defined on $X \times X$ by (3.3.1). If a multi-valued operator $F : X \times X \to P(X)$ takes proximinal values with respect to d then the multi-valued operator $T : X \times X \to P(X \times X)$, T(x, y) = (F(x, y), F(y, x)) takes proximinal values with respect to d^* .

The first result in this section is the following theorem.

Theorem 3.3.5. (Magdaş [35]) Let (X, d) be a complete metric space, $A, B \in P_{cl}(X), Y = A \cup B$ and $F: Y \times Y \to P_{prox}(Y)$ be a cyclic coupled φ -contraction of Ćirić type multi-valued operator. Then the following statements hold:

(1) there exist $x^*, y^* \in A \cap B$ such that

$$x^* \in F(x^*, y^*), y^* \in F(y^*, x^*),$$

(that is the pair (x^*, y^*) is a coupled fixed point of F);

(2) for each $(a,b) \in A \times B$ there exists a sequence $(a_n,b_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}^*} \in Y \times Y$ with $a_0 = a$, $b_0 = b$ and

 $a_n \in F(b_{n-1}, a_{n-1}), \ b_n \in F(a_{n-1}, b_{n-1}) \ for \ n \ge 1$

that converges to a coupled fixed point (x^*, y^*) of F.

Hereinafter we define and study the generalized Ulam-Hyers stability of the following coupled fixed point problem.

Definition 3.3.6. (Magdaş [35]) Let (X, d) be a metric space, $Y \in P(X)$, $F : Y \times Y \to P(Y)$ be a multi-valued operator. By definition, the coupled fixed point problem

$$\begin{cases} x \in F(x, y) \\ y \in F(y, x) \end{cases}, \ x, y \in Y, \tag{3.3.2}$$

is said to be generalized Ulam-Hyers stable if there exists an increasing function $\psi : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$, continuous at 0, with $\psi(0) = 0$ such that for each $\varepsilon > 0$ and for each solution $(x, y) \in Y \times Y$ of the inequality

$$\max\{D(x, F(x, y)), D(y, F(y, x))\} \le \varepsilon,$$

there exists a solution $(x^*, y^*) \in Y \times Y$ of the coupled fixed point problem such that

$$\max\{d(x, x^*), d(y, y^*)\} \le \psi(\varepsilon).$$

Our stability result is a consequence of the Theorem 3.1.8.

Theorem 3.3.7. (Magdaş [35]) If all the hypotheses of Theorem 3.3.5 take place, then the coupled fixed point problem (3.3.2) is generalized Ulam-Hyers stable.

In the last part of this section we will consider the following best proximity problem for a cyclic coupled multi-valued operator:

If (X,d) is a metric space, $A, B \in P(X), Y = A \cup B, F : Y \times Y \to P(Y)$ is a coupled multi-valued operator satisfying the cyclic condition

$$F(A \times B) \subseteq B, F(B \times A) \subseteq A,$$

then we are interested to find $(x^*, y^*) \in A \times B$ such that

$$D(x^*, F(x^*, y^*)) = D(y^*, F(y^*, x^*)) = D(A, B).$$
(3.3.3)

 (x^*, y^*) is said to be a coupled best proximity point of F.

Notice that, in particular, if $A \cap B \neq \emptyset$ then (x^*, y^*) is a coupled fixed point of F.

Definition 3.3.8. (Magdaş [35]) Let (X, d) be a metric space, $A, B \in P(X), Y = A \cup B$. A multi-valued operator $F : Y \times Y \to P(Y)$ is called a cyclic coupled Ćirić type multi-valued operator if:

(i) $F(A \times B) \subseteq B$ and $F(B \times A) \subseteq A$;

(ii) there exists a comparison function $\varphi : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ such that

$$H(F(x,y),F(u,v)) \le \varphi(\overline{M}(x,v,y,u) - D(A,B)) + D(A,B),$$

for any $x, v \in A, y, u \in B$.

Lemma 3.3.9. Let A and B nonempty subsets of a metric space (X, d), and d^* the metric defined on $X \times X$ by (3.3.1). If (A, B) and (B, A) satisfy the property UC with respect to d then $(A \times B, B \times A)$ satisfy the property UC with respect to d^* .

The next result is a consequence of the Theorem 3.2.4.

Theorem 3.3.10. (Magdaş [35]) Let (X, d) be a complete metric space, $A, B \in P_{cl}(X)$ such that (A, B) and (B, A) satisfy the property UC, and $Y = A \cup B$. If $F : Y \times Y \to P_{prox}(Y)$ is a cyclic coupled Ciric type multi-valued operator, then the following statements hold:

(i) F has a coupled best proximity point $(x^*, y^*) \in A \times B$;

(ii) there exist two sequences $(x_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$, $(y_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ with

$$(x_0, y_0) \in A \times B, \ x_{n+1} \in F(x_n, y_n), \ y_{n+1} \in F(y_n, x_n),$$

such that $((x_{2n}, y_{2n}))_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges to (x^*, y^*) .

Bibliography

- S. Banach, Sur les opérations dans les ensembles abstraits et leur application aux équations intégrales, Fundamenta Math., 3(1922), 133-181.
- [2] C. Di Bari, T. Suzuki, C. Vetro, Best proximity points for cyclic Meir-Keeler contractions, Nonlinear Anal., 69(2008), 3790-3794.
- [3] V. Berinde, Contracții Generalizate și Aplicații, Editura Cub Press 22, Baia Mare, 1997.
- [4] V. Berinde, Generalized coupled fixed point theorems for mixed monotone mappings in partially ordered metric spaces, Nonlinear Anal. 74(2011), no. 18, 7347-7355.
- [5] T.G. Bhaskar, V. Lakshmikantham, Fixed point theorems in partially ordered metric spaces and applications, Nonlinear Anal., 65(2006), 1379-1393.
- [6] R.M.T. Bianchini, Su un problema di S. Reich riguardante la teoria dei punti fissi, Boll. Unione Mat. Ital., IV. Ser., (4)5(1972), 103-106.
- [7] S.K. Chatterjea, *Fixed-point theorems*, C.R. Acad. Bulg. Sci., **25** (1972), 727-730.
- [8] L. Cirić, Generalized contractions and fixed-point theorems, Publ. Inst. Math. (Beograd) (N.S.) 12(26) (1971), 19-26.
- [9] L. Cirić, Fixed points for generalized multi-valued contractions, Mat. Vesnik 9(24) (1972), 265-272.
- [10] L. Cirić, Multivalued nonlinear contraction mappings, Nonlinear Anal., 71(2009), 2716-2723.
- B.S. Choudhury, P. Maity, Cyclic coupled fixed point result using Kannan type contractions, Journal of Operators, 2014(2014), Article ID 876749, 5 pages.
- [12] B.S. Choudhury, P. Maity, P. Konar, Fixed point results for couplings on metric spaces, Politehn. Univ. Bucharest Sci. Bull. Ser. A Appl. Math. Phys. 79(2017), no. 1, 77-88.
- [13] H. Covitz, S.B. Nadler, Multivalued contraction mappings in generalized metric spaces, Israel J. Math., 8(1970), 5-11.
- [14] Ş. Cobzaş, Geometric properties of Banach spaces and the existence of nearest and farthest points, Abstr. Appl. Anal., 2005(2005), 259-285.
- [15] F. Deutsch, Existence of best approximations, J. Approximation Theory, 28(1980), 132-154.
- [16] A.A. Eldred, P. Veeramani, Existence and convergence of best proximity points, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 323(2006), no. 2, 1001-1006.

- [17] M. Fakhar, F. Mirdamadi, Z. Soltani, Some results on best proximity points of cyclic Meir-Keeler contraction mappings, Filomat 32(2018), no. 6, 2081-2089.
- [18] J. Fletcher, W.B. Moors, *Chebyshev sets*, J. Aust. Math. Soc., **98**(2015), 161-231.
- [19] M. Gabeleh, N. Shahzad, Best proximity points, cyclic Kannan maps and geodesic metric spaces, J. Fixed Point Theory Appl., 18(2016) 167-188.
- [20] D. Guo, V. Lakshmikantham, Coupled fixed points of nonlinear operators with applications, Nonlinear Anal. Theory Methods Appl., 11(1987), 623-632.
- [21] J.G. Kadwin, M. Marudai, Fixed point and best proximity point results for generalised cyclic coupled mappings, Thai J. Math., 14(2016), no. 2, 431-441.
- [22] R. Kannan, Some results on fixed points, Bull. Calcutta. Math. Soc., 10(1968), 71-76.
- [23] E. Karapínar, Fixed point theory for cyclic weak -contraction, Appl. Math. Lett., 24(2011), no. 6, 822-825.
- [24] E. Karapínar, Best proximity points of cyclic mappings, Appl. Math. Lett., 25(2012), no. 11, 1761-1766.
- [25] E. Karapínar, G.S.R. Kosuru, K. Taş, Best proximity theorems for Reich type cyclic orbital and Reich type Meir-Keeler contraction maps, J. Nonlinear Anal. Optim. 5(2014), no. 1, 1-10.
- [26] E. Karapínar, G. Petruel, K. Taş, Best proximity point theorems for KT-types cyclic orbital contraction mappings, Fixed Point Theory 13(2012), no. 2, 537-545.
- [27] E. Karapínar, S. Romaguera, K. Taş, Fixed points for cyclic orbital generalized contractions on complete metric spaces, Cent. Eur. J. Math., 11(2013), no. 3, 552-560.
- [28] S. Karpagam, S. Agrawal, Existence of best proximity points of p-cyclic contractions, Fixed Point Theory, 13(2012), no. 1, 99-105.
- [29] W.A. Kirk, P.S. Srinivasan, P. Veeramani, Fixed points for mappings satisfying cyclical contractive conditions, Fixed Point Theory, 4(2003), no. 1, 79-89.
- [30] H.E. Kunze, D. La Torre, E.R. Vrscay, Contractive multifunctions, fixed point inclusions and iterated multifunction systems, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 330(2007), 159-173.
- [31] V. Lakshmikantham, L. Cirić, Coupled fixed point theorems for nonlinear contractions in partially ordered metric spaces, Nonlinear Anal., 70(2009), 4341-4349.
- [32] V. Lazăr, Fixed point theory for multivalued ϕ -contractions, Fixed Point Theory and Appl., 2011, 2011:50.
- [33] A. Magdaş, Fixed point theorems for generalized contractions defined on cyclic representations, J. Nonlinear Sci. Appl., 8(2015), 1257-1264.
- [34] A. Magdaş, A fixed point theorem for Ciric type multivalued operators satisfying a cyclical condition, J. Nonlinear Convex Anal., 17(2015), no. 6, 1109-1116.

- [35] A. Magdaş, Coupled fixed points and coupled best proximity problems for cyclic Cirić type operators, Arab J. Math. Sci. (2019), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajmsc.2019.05.002
- [36] A. Magdaş, A Perov type theorem for cyclic contractions and applications to systems of integral equations, Miskolc Mathematical Notes, 17(2017), no. 2, 931-939.
- [37] A. Magdaş, Best proximity problems for Cirić type multivalued operators satisfying a cyclic condition, Stud. Univ. Babeş-Bolyai Math., 62(2017), no. 3, 395-405.
- [38] N. Mizoguchi, W. Takahashi, Fixed point theorems for multivalued mappings on complete metric spaces, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 141(1989), 177-188.
- [39] O. Mleşniţe, A. Petruşel, Existence and Ulam-Hyers stability results for multivalued coincidence problems, Filomat, 26(2012), no. 5, 965-976.
- [40] S.B. Nadler, Multivalued contraction mappings, Pacific J. Math., **30**(1969), 475-488.
- [41] S.B. Nadler, *Periodic points of multivalued* ε -contractive maps, Topol. Methods in Nonlinear Anal., **22**(2003), 399-409.
- [42] K. Neammanee, A. Kaewkhao, Fixed points and best proximity points for multi-valued mapping satisfying cyclical condition, Int. J. Math. Sci. Appl., 1(2011), 1-9.
- [43] V.I. Opoitsev, Dynamics of collective behavior. III. Heterogenic systems, Automat. Remote Control 36(1975), no. 1, 111-124.; translated from Avtomat. i Telemeh. 1975, no. 1, 124-138(Russian).
- [44] M. Păcurar, I.A. Rus, Fixed point theory for cyclic φ -contractions, Nonlinear Anal., **72**(2010), 1181-1187.
- [45] A.I. Perov, A.V. Kibenko, About a general method for studying boundary value problems, Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR, 30(1966), no. 4, 249-264.
- [46] I.R. Petre, A. Petruşel, Krasnoselskii's theorem in generalized Banach spaces and applications, Electronic J. Qual. Theory Differ. Equ., 85(2012), 1-20.
- [47] M. Petric, Some results concerning cyclical contractive mappings, Gen. Math., 18(2010), no. 4, 213-226.
- [48] M. Petric, Best proximity point theorems for weak cyclic Kannan contractions, Filomat 25(2011), no. 1, 145-154.
- [49] M. Petric, Best proximity point theorems for weak cyclic Bianchini contractions, Creat. Math. Inform. 27(2018), no. 1, 71-77.
- [50] M. Petric, B. Zlatanov, Fixed point theorems of Kannan type for cyclical contractive conditions, Proceedings of the Anniversary International Conference REMIA 2010, Plovdiv, Bulgaria, 187-194.
- [51] M. Petric, B. Zlatanov, Best proximity points for p-cyclic summing iterated contractions, Filomat 32(2018), no. 9, 3275-3287.

- [52] A. Petruşel, *Cirić type fixed point theorems*, Stud. Univ. Babe-Bolyai, Math., 59(2014), no. 2, 233-245.
- [53] A. Petruşel, Multivalued weakly Picard operators, Sci. Math. Jpn., 59 (2004), no. 1, 169–202.
- [54] A. Petruşel, Operatorial Inclusions, House of the Book of Science, Cluj-Napoca, 2002.
- [55] A. Petruşel, Fixed points vs. coupled fixed points, J. Fixed Point Theory Appl. 20(2018), no. 4, Art. 150, 11 pp.
- [56] A. Petruşel, Multi-funcții şi Aplicații (Romanian) [Multifunctions and Applications], Presa Universitară Clujeană, Cluj-Napoca, 2002.
- [57] A. Petruşel, G. Petruşel, B. Samet, A study of the coupled fixed point problem for operators satisfying a max-symmetric condition in b-metric spaces with applications to a boundary value problem, Miskolc Math. Notes, 17(2016), no. 1, 501-516.
- [58] A. Petruşel, G. Petruşel, B. Samet, J.-C. Yao, Coupled fixed point theorems for symmetric contractions in b-metric spaces with applications to operator equation systems, Fixed Point Theory, 17(2016), no. 2, 457-476.
- [59] A. Petruşel, G. Petruşel, B. Samet, J.-C. Yao, Coupled fixed point theorems for symmetric multi-valued contractions in b-metric space with applications to systems of integral inclusions, J. Nonlinear Convex Anal. 17(2016), no. 7, 1265-1282.
- [60] A. Petruşel, G. Petruşel, Yi-Bin Xiao, J.-C. Yao, Fixed point theorems for generalized contractions with applications to coupled fixed point theory, J. Nonlinear Convex Anal., 19(2018), no. 1, 71-88.
- [61] A. Petruşel, I.A. Rus, Fixed point theory in terms of a metric and of an order relation, Fixed Point Theory, 20(2019), no. 2, 601-622.
- [62] A. Petruşel, I.A. Rus, Well-posedness of the fixed point problem for multivalued operators, Applied Analysis and Differential Equations, World Sci. Publ., Hackensack, NJ, (2007), 295-306.
- [63] G. Petruşel, Cyclic representations and periodic points, Stud. Univ. Babeş-Bolyai Math., 50(2005), no. 3, 107-112.
- [64] S. Reich, Fixed point of contractive functions, Boll. Unione Mat. Ital., IV. Ser., 5(1972), 26-42.
- [65] S. Reich, A.J. Zaslavski, Well-posedness of fixed point problems, Far East J. Math. Sci., 46(2001), no. 3, 393-401.
- [66] B.E. Rhoades, A comparison of various definitions of contractive mappings, Trans. Am. Math. Soc., 226(1977), 257-290.
- [67] B.E. Rhoades, A fixed point theorem for a multi-valued non-self mapping, Comment. Math. Univ. Carolin., 37(1996), 401-404.
- [68] I.A. Rus, Cyclic representations and fixed points, Ann. T. Popoviciu Seminar Funct. Eq. Approx. Convexity, 3(2005), 171-178.

- [69] I.A. Rus, Generalized Contractions and Applications, Cluj University Press, 2001.
- [70] I.A. Rus, A. Petruşel, G. Petruşel, Fixed Point Theory, Cluj University Press, 2008.
- [71] I.A. Rus, A. Petruşel, A. Sîntămărian, Data dependence of the fixed point set of some multivalued weakly Picard operators, Nonlinear Anal., 52(2003), 1947-1959.
- [72] I.A. Rus, M.A. Şerban, Some generalizations of a Cauchy lemma and applications, Topics in Mathematics, Computer Science and Philosophy, (St. Cobzaş Ed.), Cluj University Press, 2008, 173-181.
- [73] B. Samet, C. Vetro, Coupled fixed point, F-invariant set and fixed point of N-order, Annals Functional Anal., 1, (2010), 46-56.
- [74] B. Samet, C. Vetro, Coupled fixed point theorems for multi-valued nonlinear contraction mappings in partially ordered metric spaces, Nonlinear Anal., 74(2011), 4260-4268.
- [75] B. Samet, E. Karapinar, H. Aydi, V.C. Rajić, Discussion on some coupled fixed point theorems, Fixed Point Theory Appl., 50(2013), 12 pages.
- [76] S.P. Singh, B. Watson, P. Srivastava, Fixed Point Theory and Best Approximation: the KKM-map Principle, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 1997.
- [77] T. Suzuki, M. Kikkawa, C. Vetro, The existence of best proximity points in metric spaces with the property UC, Nonlinear Anal., 71(2009), no. 7-8, 2918-2926.
- [78] X. Udo-utun, Existence of strong coupled fixed points for cyclic coupled Ciric-type mappings,
 J. Oper., 2014(2014), Article ID 381685, 4 pages.
- [79] R. Varga, *Matrix Iterative Analysis*, Springer, Berlin, 2000.
- [80] C. Vetro, F. Vetro, Caristi type selections of multivalued mappings, J. Funct. Spaces, 2015(2015), Article ID 941856, 6 pages.
- [81] T. Zamfirescu, Fixed point theorems in metric spaces, Arch. Math. (Basel), 23(1972), 292-298.

Addend: Author's published papers

This thesis is developed on the basis of the following published papers:

- Adrian Magdaş, Fixed point theorems for generalized contractions defined on cyclic representations, J. Nonlinear Sci. Appl., 8(2015), 1257-1264.
- 2. Adrian Magdaş, A fixed point theorem for Ćirić type multivalued operators satisfying a cyclical condition, J. Nonlinear Convex Anal., 17(2015), no. 6, 1109-1116.
- **3.** Adrian Magdaş, A Perov type theorem for cyclic contractions and applications to systems of integral equations, Miskolc Mathematical Notes, 17(2017), no. 2, 931-939.
- 4. Adrian Magdaş, Best proximity problems for Ćirić type multivalued operators satisfying a cyclic condition, Stud. Univ. Babeş-Bolyai Math., 62(2017), no. 3, 395-405.
- 5. Adrian Magdaş, Coupled fixed points and coupled best proximity points for cyclic operators, Arab J. Math. Sci. (2019), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajmsc.2019.05.002.